
1 

 
 
 

 
 
 

COUNCIL SUMMONS 
 
 
To Members of the Metropolitan Borough Council 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 
You are requested to attend a Meeting of the Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council to  
 
 
be held on Thursday 24th January, 2019 at 6.30 pm at the Town Hall, Bootle to  
 
 
transact the business set out on the agenda overleaf. 
 
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
Town Hall, 
Southport 
 
Wednesday 16 January 2019 
 
 

Please contact Steve Pearce, Interim Democratic Services Manager  
on 0151 934 2046 or e-mail steve.pearce@sefton.gov.uk 

 

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack



2 

 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank.



3 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members are requested to give notice of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest, which is not already included in their 
Register of Members' Interests and the nature of that interest, 
relating to any item on the agenda in accordance with the 
Members Code of Conduct, before leaving the meeting room 
during the discussion on that particular item. 
  

3.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 22) 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2018 
  

4.   Mayor's Communications 
 

 

Public Session 
 

5.   Matters Raised by the Public  

 To deal with matters raised by members of the public 
resident within the Borough, of which notice has been given 
in accordance with the procedures relating to public 
questions, motions or petitions set out in Paragraph 36 to 46 
of the Council and Committee Procedure Rules in Chapter 4 
of the Council Constitution. 
  

Council Business Session 
 

6.   Questions Raised by Members of the Council  

 To receive and consider questions to Cabinet Members, 
Chairs of Committees or Spokespersons for any of the Joint 
Authorities upon any matter within their portfolio/area of 
responsibility, of which notice has been given by Members of 
the Council in accordance with Paragraph 48 to 50 of the 
Council and Committee Procedure Rules, set out in Chapter 
4 of the Council Constitution. 
  

7.   Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20, Increase 
to Long Term Empty Homes Premium and Council Tax 
Base 2019/20 

(Pages 23 - 
72) 

 Report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
  

8.   Pay Policy (Pages 73 - 
90) 

 Report of the Head of Corporate Resources 
  
 



4 

9.   Making the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans (Pages 91 - 
96) 

 Report of the Chief Planning Officer 
  

10.   Programme of Meetings – 2019/20 Municipal Year (Pages 97 - 
120) 

 Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer 
  

11.   Membership of Committees 2018/19  

 To consider any changes to the Membership of any 
committees etc. 
  

12.   Motion Submitted by Councillor Dawson - Impact of 
Universal Credit 

(Pages 121 - 
122) 

 To consider the attached Motion submitted by Councillor 
Dawson 
  

13.   Motion Submitted by Councillor Jones - Creating a Town 
Council for Southport 

(Pages 123 - 
124) 

 To consider the attached Motion submitted by Councillor 
Jones 
  

 



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN” 

 

39 

COUNCIL 
 

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, SOUTHPORT 
ON THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 

 
 
PRESENT: The Mayor (Councillor Robinson) in the Chair 

The Deputy Chair (Councillor Brennan) Vice Chair 
 

 Councillors Ashton, Atkinson, Blackburne, Bliss, 
Bradshaw, Brodie - Browne, Brough, Burns, Byrom, 
Carr, Carragher, Linda Cluskey, Dodd, Dowd, Doyle, 
Dutton, Friel, Grace, Hardy, Jones, Keith, 
John Kelly, John Joseph Kelly, Killen, Lappin, 
Daniel Lewis, Maher, Marshall, McCann, McGinnity, 
McKinley, Moncur, Morris, Murphy, Brenda O'Brien, 
Michael O'Brien, Page, Pitt, Pugh, Roche, 
John Sayers, Yvonne Sayers, Shaw, Spencer, 
Anne Thompson, Lynne Thompson, Tweed, 
Sir Ron Watson, Webster, Bill Welsh and 
Marianne Welsh 

 
 
 
49. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Booth, Cummins, 
Dawson, Fairclough, Gannon, Hands, Jamieson, Dan T. Lewis, O’Hanlon, 
Pullin, Roscoe, Thomas and Veidman. 
 
 
50. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
In accordance with Paragraph 9 of the Council’s Code of Conduct, the 
following declaration of personal interest was made and the Member 
concerned remained in the room during the consideration of the item: 
 
Member 

 

Minute Nature of Interest 

Councillor 

Lappin 

Minute No. 62 – 

Motion submitted 

by Councillor 

Brodie-Browne 

Member of the Merseyside 

Pensions Fund Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

40 

51. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the Council Meeting held on 20 September 2018 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
 
52. MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS  
 
Remembrance Sunday 
 

The Mayor extended his thanks and appreciation to all of the Members of 
the Council, Officers, Royal British Legion, Ex Service Organisations and 
members of the public who attended the various Remembrance Sunday 
events held throughout the Borough, which were all extremely well 
attended. 
  
Bootle – 150th Anniversary  

 

The Mayor also thanked the Members of the Council, Officers and 
members of the public who attended the exhibition and events which took 
place from Friday 19 October to Saturday 27 October 2018 at Bootle Town 
Hall to celebrate 150 years of Bootle. 
  
Death of Former Councillor Brian Reynolds 
 

The Mayor reported with sadness and regret on the death of former 
Councillor Brian Reynolds who died on 12 April 2018 aged 69 years. 
  
Brian Reynolds served the Molyneux Ward from 3 May 1990 until 7 May 
1998.  During his time on the Council, Brian Reynolds was Deputy Leader 
of the Council and served as the Chair of the Education Committee and as 
a Member on the Highways, Leisure Services, Libraries and Arts and 
Policy and Resources Committees. 
  
The Mayor extended the thoughts of the Council to the family and friends 
of Brian Reynolds. 
 
The Council stood for one minute silence as a mark of respect. 
 
Councillors Moncur, Brennan, Sir Ron Watson and Pugh paid tribute to 
Brian Reynolds. 
 
 
53. MATTERS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC  
 
The Mayor reported that a public petition had been received containing the 
signatures of over 500 people and that the summary of the petition stated: 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

41 

"We want Sefton Council to support a motion for a People's Vote on the 
final Brexit Deal which includes an option to remain in the EU. We also 
want the Council to request receipt of all government departmental 
information and analysis pertaining to the impacts upon Sefton’s 
communities and businesses of the UK’s withdrawal from the European 
Union, including any information deemed by the government to be 
confidential, which is their legal right." 
 
In accordance with Paragraph 266 in Chapter 11 of the Constitution, the 
lead petitioner, Carla Burns was given a period of up to five minutes to 
address the Council on the petition. 
 
Thereafter, it was moved by Councillor Maher and seconded by Councillor 
Hardy that: 
 
“The petition be noted.” 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Daniel Lewis and seconded by 
Councillor Brodie-Browne that the Motion be amended by the addition of 
the following text: 
 
“and this Council supports the terms of the petition submitted and in 
particular calls for a People’s Vote on the final Brexit Deal which includes 
an option to remain in the EU.” 
 
Following debate and in accordance with Paragraph 94 of Chapter 4 in the 
Council Constitution, the voting on the amendment was recorded and the 
Members of the Council present at the time, voted as follows: 
 
FOR THE AMENDMENT: 
 
Councillors Ashton, Brodie-Browne, Dodd, Keith, Daniel Lewis, Pugh, 
Shaw and Lynne Thompson. 
 
AGAINST THE AMENDMENT: 
 
Councillors Atkinson, Blackburne, Bliss, Bradshaw, Brennan, Brough, 
Burns, Byrom, Carr, Carragher, Cluskey, Dowd, Doyle, Dutton, Friel, 
Grace, Hardy, Jones, John Kelly, John Joseph Kelly, Killen, Lappin, 
Maher, Marshall, McCann, McGinnity, McKinley, Moncur, Morris, Murphy, 
Brenda O’Brien, Michael O’Brien, Page, Pitt, Roche, John Sayers, Yvonne 
Sayers, Spencer, Anne Thompson, Tweed, Webster, Bill Welsh, Marianne 
Welsh and The Mayor. 
 
ABSTENTION: 
 
Councillor Sir Ron Watson. 
 
The Mayor declared that the amendment was lost by 44 votes to 8 with 1 
abstention. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

42 

Thereafter, on a show of hands the Mayor declared that the Motion was 
carried and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the petition be noted. 
 
 
54. QUESTIONS RAISED BY MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  
 
The Council considered a schedule setting out the written questions 
submitted by: 
 
1. Question submitted by Councillor Jones to the to the Leader of the 

Council (Councillor Maher); 
 
2. Question submitted by Councillor Jones to the Cabinet Member for 

Planning and Building Control) (Councillor Veidman); 
 

3. Question submitted by Councillor Brough to the Cabinet Member for 
Communities and Housing (Councillor Hardy); 
 

4. Question submitted by Councillor Bliss to the Leader of the Council 
(Councillor Maher);  
 

5-7. 3 Questions submitted by Councillor Sir Ron Watson to the Leader 
of the Council (Councillor Maher);  
 

8. Question submitted by Councillor Sir Ron Watson to the Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Skills (Councillor Atkinson);  
 

9. Question submitted by Councillor Bliss to the Leader of the Council 
(Councillor Maher);  
 

10. Question submitted by Councillor Doyle to the Leader of the Council 
(Councillor Maher);  
 

11. Question submitted by Councillor Pugh to the Leader of the Council 
(Councillor Maher);  
 

12. Question submitted by Councillor Bliss to the Leader of the Council 
(Councillor Maher);  

 
together with the responses given. Supplementary questions to questions 
1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 11 were responded to by the Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Members for Communities and Housing and, Regeneration and 
Skills.  
 
 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

43 

55. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972: ATTENDANCE AT 
MEETINGS – COUNCILLOR RICHARD HANDS  

 
The Council considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer which requested the Council to approve and authorise the absence 
of Councillor Richard Hands from attendance at Council and Committee 
Meetings pursuant to Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Maher, seconded by Councillor Hardy and  
 
RESOLVED: That: 
 
(1) the current absence from all Council and Committee Meetings of 

Councillor Richard Hands due to ill-health be authorised and 
approved for a six-month period until the scheduled meeting of the 
Council to take place on 25 April 2019, pursuant to Section 85 of 
the Local Government Act 1972; and 

 
(2) the Mayor be requested to write to Councillor Richard Hands, on 

behalf of the Council, wishing him a speedy recovery and a quick 
return to Council meetings. 

 
 
56. MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES 2018/19  
 
Councillor Bliss proposed that Councillor Jones should replace Councillor 
Dutton as the Substitute Member for Councillor Jamieson on the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services).  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the change to the substitute representation on the Committee be 
approved.  
 
 
57. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR BILL WELSH - 

NORTHERN RAIL  
 
It was moved by Councillor Bill Welsh and seconded by Councillor Friel: 
 
“Northern Rail 
 
On 21 April 2016, a Motion was agreed at Council deploring Northern 
Rail's proposal to remove the Southport to Manchester Piccadilly service 
which is used by many commuters and requesting them to retain it in full. 
 
The Motion also pressed for improvements to the rail service between 
Southport and Manchester by bringing forward the electrification of the line 
in order to provide a faster service as it was commonly acknowledged that 
the service was already very poor. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

44 

 
In the intervening period due to the efforts of local rail campaign groups, 
local MPs, Merseytravel, the Liverpool City Region (LCR) Combined 
Authority as well as the leader of Sefton Council and the Council's 
representative on the LCR Transport Committee, Northern Rail has 
retained a very limited service into Piccadilly.  All parties involved in the 
campaign are continuing to press for a better service overall. 
 
The debacle following the timetable changes in May which led to hundreds 
of train services being cancelled as well as unacceptable delays and 
overcrowding with those that were not cancelled has put Northern Rail 
under a national spotlight. Passengers' experience of the Southport-
Manchester service which was previously very poor has now become 
considerably worse since Arriva took over the Northern franchise over two 
years ago. 
 
The company has itself conceded that service performance even now is 
still well below acceptable on all lines covered by the franchise. 
 
Recently the East Coast mainline was brought into public sector control 
following the failure of that franchise. Given the disaster following the 
introduction of the new timetable and the subsequent failure of Northern 
Rail to improve its services sufficiently this Council now believes that the 
company should also be stripped of its franchise and the service brought 
into public sector control and calls on the Government to take this action. 
 
This Council requests that the Leader of the Council and Chief Executive 
formally write on behalf of the Council to the Minister for Transport 
highlighting the above and calling on the Minister to, as a matter of 
urgency, remove the franchise from Northern Rail and bring it into public 
sector control.” 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Pugh and seconded by 
Councillor Shaw that the Motion be amended by the addition of the 
following text at the end of the final paragraph in the Motion: 
 
“and further write to the Manchester and Liverpool City Region Transport 
Portfolio holders urging them to support in any new franchise agreement 
for the restoration of Southport’s direct rail links with South Manchester 
and Manchester Airport.” 
 
Following debate, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the 
amendment was carried by 46 votes to 6. 
 
Thereafter, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the Substantive 
Motion was carried by 46 votes to 6 and it was  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

45 

RESOLVED: 
 
Northern Rail 
 
On 21 April 2016, a Motion was agreed at Council deploring Northern 
Rail's proposal to remove the Southport to Manchester Piccadilly service 
which is used by many commuters and requesting them to retain it in full. 
 
The Motion also pressed for improvements to the rail service between 
Southport and Manchester by bringing forward the electrification of the line 
in order to provide a faster service as it was commonly acknowledged that 
the service was already very poor. 
 
In the intervening period due to the efforts of local rail campaign groups, 
local MPs, Merseytravel, the Liverpool City Region (LCR) Combined 
Authority as well as the leader of Sefton Council and the Council's 
representative on the LCR Transport Committee, Northern Rail has 
retained a very limited service into Piccadilly.  All parties involved in the 
campaign are continuing to press for a better service overall. 
 
The debacle following the timetable changes in May which led to hundreds 
of train services being cancelled as well as unacceptable delays and 
overcrowding with those that were not cancelled has put Northern Rail 
under a national spotlight. Passengers' experience of the Southport-
Manchester service which was previously very poor has now become 
considerably worse since Arriva took over the Northern franchise over two 
years ago. 
 
The company has itself conceded that service performance even now is 
still well below acceptable on all lines covered by the franchise. 
 
Recently the East Coast mainline was brought into public sector control 
following the failure of that franchise. Given the disaster following the 
introduction of the new timetable and the subsequent failure of Northern 
Rail to improve its services sufficiently this Council now believes that the 
company should also be stripped of its franchise and the service brought 
into public sector control and calls on the Government to take this action. 
 
This Council requests that the Leader of the Council and Chief Executive 
formally write on behalf of the Council to the Minister for Transport 
highlighting the above and calling on the Minister to, as a matter of 
urgency, remove the franchise from Northern Rail and bring it into public 
sector control and, further write to the Manchester and Liverpool City 
Region Transport Portfolio holders urging them to support in any new 
franchise agreement for the restoration of Southport’s direct rail links with 
South Manchester and Manchester Airport. 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

46 

58. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR SIR RON WATSON - 
SOCIAL HOUSING  

 
It was moved by Councillor Sir Ron Watson and seconded by Councillor 
Morris:  
  
Social Housing 

Sefton Council welcomes the Government’s decision to remove the cap on 
the construction of new social housing. 

The Council could quickly identify suitable sites based on assessments 
already completed. There remains however one issue to be resolved. 

The new freedoms apply only to Local Authorities that have retained 
Housing Revenue Accounts (HRA) and Sefton like the majority wound up 
their HRA’s when housing stock transfer took place in 2006. 

The Council therefore request the Government to clarify the mechanism by 
which the new freedoms can be implemented and whether or not the 
Council would need to open a new HRA Account. In addition, the Council 
requests clarification of the arrangements made for debt transfer at the 
time. 

When the Council is able to move forward it confirms that to ensure social 
cohesion early implementation and cost viability, it will invite tenders from 
private sector house builders who will be able to use their private sector 
standard house designs with the result in savings that Sefton knows will 
occur from this approach based on its previous experience in Southport. 

An amendment was moved by Councillor Hardy and seconded by 
Councillor Atkinson that the Motion be amended as follows: 

(1) First Paragraph: delete the word “welcomes” and add the word 
“notes” 

(2) Second Paragraph: delete the text:  

“could quickly identify suitable sites based on assessments already 
completed. There remains however one issue to be resolved”  

and add the text: 

“notes the progress of the wholly owned Council housing 
development company by Sefton MBC - ‘Sandway Homes’. It 
welcomes its intention to build housing for sale and to meet all 
council policies on the provision of high quality, affordable homes in 
Sefton. In addition, the council recognises the work already 
undertaken in relation to the identification of suitable housing sites.” 

(3) Third Paragraph: add the following text at the end of the paragraph: 

“At the time of stock transfer the debt on Sefton Council’s HRA was 
circa £86 million.” 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

47 

(4) Fourth Paragraph: delete all of the text after word “therefore” and 
add the following text: 

 “requests that the Government clarifies the implications of re-
opening a HRA account and the potential risk of reigniting a 
substantial financial debt at a time of continued budgetary 
reductions due to the Conservative Government’s austerity 
agenda.” 

(5) Fifth Paragraph: delete all of the text in the paragraph and add the 
following text: 

 “This Council recognises the important role private developers 
contribute to house building.  However, for sites owned by Sefton 
MBC we believe the ‘developers’ profit should be a social value 
based income to Sefton MBC and recycled for the wider benefits of 
Sefton services and communities.” 

On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the Motion was carried by 46 
votes to 6. 

Thereafter, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the vote on the 
Substantive Motion was carried by 46 votes to none and it was 

RESOLVED: 
 
Social Housing  
 

Sefton Council notes the Government’s decision to remove the cap on the 
construction of new social housing.  
  

The Council notes the progress of the wholly owned Council housing 
development company by Sefton MBC - ‘Sandway Homes’. It welcomes its 
intention to build housing for sale and to meet all council policies on the 
provision of high quality, affordable homes in Sefton. In addition, the 
council recognises the work already undertaken in relation to the 
identification of suitable housing sites.   
  

The new freedoms apply only to Local Authorities that have retained 
Housing Revenue Accounts (HRA) and Sefton like the majority wound up 
their HRA’s when housing stock transfer took place in 2006.  At the time of 
stock transfer the debt on Sefton Council’s HRA was circa £86 million.  
  

The Council therefore requests that the Government clarifies the 
implications of re-opening a HRA account and the potential risk of 
reigniting a substantial financial debt at a time of continued budgetary 
reductions due to the Conservative Government’s austerity agenda.   
  

This Council recognises the important role private developers contribute to 
house building.  However, for sites owned by Sefton MBC we believe the 
‘developers’ profit should be a social value based income to Sefton MBC 
and recycled for the wider benefits of Sefton services and communities. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

48 

 
59. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR MAHER - BREAKING 

POINT CAMPAIGN  
 
It was moved by Councillor Maher and seconded by Councillor Hardy: 
 
“Breaking Point Campaign 
 
This Council notes that many council budgets are now at Breaking Point. 
Austerity has caused huge damage to communities up and down the UK, 
with devastating effects on key public services that protect the most 
defenceless in society - children at risk, disabled adults and vulnerable 
older people - and the services we all rely on, like clean streets, libraries, 
and children’s centres; 
 
• Tory cuts mean councils have lost 60p out of every £1 that the last 

Labour Government was spending on local government in 2010; 

• Councils had to spend an extra £800m last year to meet the demand 

on vital services to protect children; 

• With an ageing population and growing demand adult social care faces 

a gap of £3.5 billion - with only 14% of council workers now confident 

that vulnerable local residents are safe and cared for; 

• Government cuts have seen over 500 children’s centres and 475 

libraries close, potholes are left unfilled, and 80% of council’s workers 

now say they have no confidence in the future of local services; 

• Northamptonshire has already gone bust due to Tory incompetence at 

both national and local level, and more councils are predicted to 

collapse without immediate emergency funding; and 

• Councils now face a further funding gap of £7.8 billion by 2025 just to 

keep services ‘standing still’ and meeting additional demand. Even 

Lord Gary Porter, the Conservative Chair of the Local Government 

Association, has said ‘Councils can no longer be expected to run our 

vital local services on a shoestring’. 

This Council condemns the Chief Secretary to the Treasury, Liz Truss for 
stating on BBC Newsnight on 1 October 2018 that the Government is “not 
making cuts to local authorities”, when all independent assessments of 
government spending show that this is entirely false; and that this Council 
further notes that Prime Minister Theresa May has also claimed that 
“austerity is over” despite planning a further £1.3bn of cuts to council 
budgets over the next year; 
 
This Council agrees with the aims of the ‘Breaking Point’ petition signed by 
Labour Councillors across the country, in calling for the Prime Minister and 
Chancellor to truly end austerity in local government by: 
 

 Using the Budget to reverse next year’s planned £1.3bn cut to council 

budgets; 

 Immediately investing £2bn in children’s services and £2bn in adult 

social care to stop these vital emergency services from collapsing; 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

49 

 Pledging to use the Spending Review to restore council funding to 

2010 levels over the next four years 

This Council resolves to: 
 

 Support the ‘Breaking Point’ campaign, recognising the devastating 

impact that austerity has had on our local community 

 Ask the Leader of the Council to write to the Chancellor of the 

Exchequer, the Prime Minister, and the Secretary of State for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government setting out the funding pressures 

faced by our local council, and calling on the Government to truly end 

austerity in local government.” 

 
Following debate, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the Motion 
was carried by 44 votes to 5 and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Breaking Point Campaign 
 
This Council notes that many council budgets are now at Breaking Point. 
Austerity has caused huge damage to communities up and down the UK, 
with devastating effects on key public services that protect the most 
defenceless in society - children at risk, disabled adults and vulnerable 
older people - and the services we all rely on, like clean streets, libraries, 
and children’s centres; 
 
• Tory cuts mean councils have lost 60p out of every £1 that the last 

Labour Government was spending on local government in 2010; 

• Councils had to spend an extra £800m last year to meet the demand 

on vital services to protect children; 

• With an ageing population and growing demand adult social care faces 

a gap of £3.5 billion - with only 14% of council workers now confident 

that vulnerable local residents are safe and cared for; 

• Government cuts have seen over 500 children’s centres and 475 

libraries close, potholes are left unfilled, and 80% of council’s workers 

now say they have no confidence in the future of local services; 

• Northamptonshire has already gone bust due to Tory incompetence at 

both national and local level, and more councils are predicted to 

collapse without immediate emergency funding; and 

• Councils now face a further funding gap of £7.8 billion by 2025 just to 

keep services ‘standing still’ and meeting additional demand. Even 

Lord Gary Porter, the Conservative Chair of the Local Government 

Association, has said ‘Councils can no longer be expected to run our 

vital local services on a shoestring’. 

This Council condemns the Chief Secretary to the Treasury, Liz Truss for 
stating on BBC Newsnight on 1 October 2018 that the Government is “not 
making cuts to local authorities”, when all independent assessments of 
government spending show that this is entirely false; and that this Council 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

50 

further notes that Prime Minister Theresa May has also claimed that 
“austerity is over” despite planning a further £1.3bn of cuts to council 
budgets over the next year; 
 
This Council agrees with the aims of the ‘Breaking Point’ petition signed by 
Labour Councillors across the country, in calling for the Prime Minister and 
Chancellor to truly end austerity in local government by: 
 

 Using the Budget to reverse next year’s planned £1.3bn cut to council 

budgets; 

 Immediately investing £2bn in children’s services and £2bn in adult 

social care to stop these vital emergency services from collapsing; 

 Pledging to use the Spending Review to restore council funding to 

2010 levels over the next four years 

This Council resolves to: 
 

 Support the ‘Breaking Point’ campaign, recognising the devastating 

impact that austerity has had on our local community 

 Ask the Leader of the Council to write to the Chancellor of the 

Exchequer, the Prime Minister, and the Secretary of State for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government setting out the funding pressures 

faced by our local council, and calling on the Government to truly end 

austerity in local government. 

 
 
60. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR JOHN SAYERS - FOOD 

ALLERGEN LABELLING  
 
It was moved by Councillor John Sayers, seconded by Councillor Yvonne 
Sayers and following debate, unanimously 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Food Allergen Labelling 
 
At present when a food business sells prepacked food for direct sale the 
same regulations apply as to non-prepacked food under the EU Food 
Information for Consumers Regulation No. 1169/2011. This means food 
businesses preparing their products freshly on their premises are 
exempted from the obligation of labelling them with a list of ingredients 
including the provision of allergen information. 
 
This is because it is expected that the customer is able to speak with the 
person who made or packed the product to ask about ingredients. All 
mandatory allergen ingredients information (the 14) should be available 
and easily accessible for the consumer and this can be communicated 
through a variety of means to suit the business format of the food business 
operator. 
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

51 

The coroner who presided over the Inquest of Natasha Ednan-Laperouse 
concluded that the current legislation is not adequate and has requested a 
review. This Council welcomes a government review and would support a 
strengthening of the regulation(s) to ensure food allergic consumers are 
well informed regarding the allergen information of food purchased from 
food businesses preparing their products freshly on their premises. We 
hope the review will cover all food businesses that sell food that has been 
prepared and packed on the same premises from which they are being 
sold, irrespective of the size of the business. 
 
Accordingly, this Council requests the Chief Executive to write to Michael 
Gove, Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
requesting the introduction of legislation without delay to ensure all food 
products destined for human consumption are:  
 
(1) Clearly labelled with all Allergen contents; 
 
(2) That labelling should apply to all outlets regardless of size, hours of 

operation or whether payment is required or not; 
 
(3) That the vague terminology such as “may contain traces” is banned; 
 
(4) That the provisions of the Equalities Act 2010 are amended to 

ensure restaurants, cafes and other places of public refreshment be 
required to allow customers who suffer allergies to bring and 
consume their own food on the premises provided they are 
accompanied by other full paying customers and perhaps subject to 
a reasonable service charge; and 

 
(5) That all staff are trained in the effects of severe allergy and how to 

respond to customers needs. 
 
 
61. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR MONCUR - PUBLIC 

HEALTH FUNDING  
 
It was moved by Councillor Moncur and seconded by Councillor John 
Joseph Kelly and unanimously 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Public Health Funding  
  
The public health grant funds vital services and functions that prevent ill 
health and contribute to the future sustainability of the NHS. Local 
authorities are responsible for delivering most of these services, but their 
ability to do so is compromised by public health grant reductions and the 
broader funding climate.  
  
In 2018/19 and 2019/20 every local authority will have less to spend on 
public health than the year before. Taking funds away from prevention is a 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

52 

false economy. Without proper investment in public health people suffer, 
demand on local health services increases and the economy suffers. Poor 
public health costs local businesses heavily through sick days and lost 
productivity. Unless we restore public health funding, our health and care 
system will remain locked in a ‘treatment’ approach, which is neither 
economically viable nor protects the health of residents.  
  
The Government is looking to phase out the Public Health Grant by 
2020/21. Thereafter, they plan to fund public health via 75% business 
rates retention. Whatever the model, it is vital that local authorities have 
enough funding to deliver the functions and services they need to provide. 
Deprived areas often suffer the worst health outcomes, so it is also vital 
that areas with the greatest need receive sufficient funding to meet their 
local challenges.   
  
This Council notes that around four in ten cancers are preventable, largely 
through avoidable risk factors, such as stopping smoking, keeping a 
healthy weight and cutting back on alcohol. Smoking accounts for 80,000 
early deaths every year and remains the largest preventable cause of 
cancer in the world. Smoking-related ill health costs local authorities £760 
million every year in social care costs.  Additionally, obesity and alcohol 
account for 30,000 and 7,000 early deaths each year respectively.  All 
three increase the risk of: cancer, diabetes, lung and heart conditions, 
poor mental health and create a subsequent burden on health and social 
care.   
  
This Council believes that the impact of cuts to public health on our 
communities is becoming difficult to ignore.  This case becomes more 
pressing given the Government’s consideration of a 10-year plan for the 
NHS. For this reason, we support Cancer Research UK’s call for increased 
and sustainable public health funding. This Council calls on the 
Government to deliver increased investment in public health and to 
support a sustainable health and social care system by taking a 
‘prevention first’ approach.   
  
In turn, Sefton Council will continue to support and fund public health 
initiatives to the best of our abilities - to prevent ill-health, reduce 
inequalities and support a health and social care system that is fit for the 
future.  
 
 
62. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR BRODIE-BROWNE - 

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND  
 
It was moved by Councillor Brodie-Browne and seconded by Councillor 
Daniel Lewis: 
 
Merseyside Pension Fund  
  
This Council notes:  
  

Page 18

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

53 

(i) the action of the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) in regard to 
investment in Fracking Companies; and 

 

(ii) the publication by Friends of the Earth (September 2018) Disinvest 
Fracking which identifies MPF as one of the top ten highest 
investors in Fracking Companies   

  
This Council resolves to request MPF to review its policy and to publish a 
timetable for disinvestment.  
 
(Link to Friends of the Earth document referred to above:  
https://gofossilfree.org/uk/wp-
content/uploads/sites/3/2018/09/03_09_18_FINAL-VERSION-divest-
fracking-report-.pdf ) 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Lappin, seconded by Councillor 
Hardy that the Motion be amended as follows: 
 
(1) In Part (ii) of the Motion, delete the following text: 
 

 “The publication by Friends of the Earth (September 2018) 
Disinvest Fracking which identifies MPF as one of the top ten 
highest investors in Fracking Companies.” 

 
 And substitute the following text:  
 

 “Its long-term commitment to the Paris Agreement and its objective 
to disinvest from all fossil fuel portfolios to become carbon neutral 
in the near future.” 

 
(2) In the final paragraph, delete the following text: 
 
 review its policy and to publish a timetable for disinvestment 
 
 And substitute the following text:  
 

“publish a timetable for disinvestment as soon as possible.” 
 
In accordance with Paragraph 71 in Chapter 4 of the Constitution, 
Councillor Lappin offered her amendment as a “friendly amendment” and 
Councillor Brodie-Browne, indicated that he accepted the amendment as 
a ‘friendly amendment’ to his Motion. 
 
On a show of Hands, the Mayor declared that the Revised Motion was 
carried unanimously and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Merseyside Pension Fund  
 
This Council notes: 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3

https://gofossilfree.org/uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2018/09/03_09_18_FINAL-VERSION-divest-fracking-report-.pdf
https://gofossilfree.org/uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2018/09/03_09_18_FINAL-VERSION-divest-fracking-report-.pdf
https://gofossilfree.org/uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2018/09/03_09_18_FINAL-VERSION-divest-fracking-report-.pdf


COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

54 

 
(i) the action of the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) in regard to 

disinvestment in Fracking Companies.  
 

(ii)  Its long-term commitment to the Paris Agreement and its objective 
to disinvest from all fossil fuel portfolios to become carbon neutral 
in the near future.  

 
This Council resolves to request MPF to publish a timetable for 
disinvestment as soon as possible. 

 
 
63. MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR BYROM - 

MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY  
 
It was moved by Councillor Byrom and seconded by Councillor Grace: 
 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority 

 

“This Council believes that the cuts imposed by Government on 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority (MFRA) have gone too far and 
should be reversed to ensure public safety is protected.  
 
To this end the Council will work in collaboration with MFRA, Merseyside’s 
constituent District Councils, Mayors Anderson and Rotherham, MP’s, the 
FBU and all trade unions to jointly lobby Government to demand 
assurances that, the cuts imposed on the Authority be reversed and that 
the case for increased funding for MFRA will be fully considered on the 
basis of public safety. 
 
This Council also supports the Fire and Rescue Authority’s position when 
demanding assurances that, as an absolute minimum, Government 
commit to ensuring that there will be no further grant reductions applied to 
MFRA and that the Authority will be fully protected in relation to any new 
financial burdens.” 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Sir Ron Watson, seconded by 
Councillor Bliss that the Motion be amended by the deletion of the 
following text in the second paragraph of the Motion: 
 
“the cuts imposed on the Authority be reversed and that” 
 
On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the amendment was lost by 
42 votes to 4.  
 
Thereafter, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the Motion was 
carried and it was  
 
 
 
 

Page 20

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 15TH NOVEMBER, 2018 
 

55 

RESOLVED:  
 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority 

 

This Council believes that the cuts imposed by Government on 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority (MFRA) have gone too far and 
should be reversed to ensure public safety is protected.  
 
To this end the Council will work in collaboration with MFRA, Merseyside’s 
constituent District Councils, Mayors Anderson and Rotherham, MP’s, the 
FBU and all trade unions to jointly lobby Government to demand 
assurances that, the cuts imposed on the Authority be reversed and that 
the case for increased funding for MFRA will be fully considered on the 
basis of public safety. 
 
This Council also supports the Fire and Rescue Authority’s position when 
demanding assurances that, as an absolute minimum, Government 
commit to ensuring that there will be no further grant reductions applied to 
MFRA and that the Authority will be fully protected in relation to any new 
financial burdens. 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Cabinet 
 
Council  
 

Date of Meeting: 10 January 2019 
 
24 January 2019 

Subject: Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20  

Increase to Long Term Empty Homes Premium & Council Tax 
Base 2019/20 

 

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources   
 

Wards Affected: (All Wards) 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services   
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan: 

Yes  
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 
 

 
Summary: 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide details of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2018/19 review and to recommend no change to the local scheme in 2019/20 for working 
age claimants.  
 
The report asks that Cabinet recommend to Council an increase to the long term empty 
homes premium from 50% to 100% following the outcome of the consultation.   
 
Finally, it presents an updated Council Tax Base for Sefton Council and each Parish 
area for 2019/20.  
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
Cabinet: 
 

1) Note the contents of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 review. 
 

2) Recommend to Council no changes to the existing Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme for 2019/20 for working age claimants. 

 

3) Note the outcome of the consultation and equality impact assessment on the 
proposal to increase the long-term empty homes premium as set out in Annex B 

 
4) Recommend that Council approves an increase to the long-term empty homes 

premium from 50% to 100% from 1 April 2019, as indicated in section 5.7 of this 
report.  

 
5) Recommend that Council approves the relevant 2019/20 Council Tax Base for 

Sefton Council and each Parish Area as set out in Annex A. 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Council: 
 

1) Note the contents of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 review. 
 

2) Approve no changes to the existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 
for working age claimants. 

 

3) Note the outcome of the consultation and equality impact assessment on the 
proposal to increase the long-term empty homes premium as set out in Annex B 

 
4) Approve an increase to the long-term empty homes premium from 50% to 100% 

from 1 April 2019, as indicated in section 5.7 of this report.  
 

5) Approve the relevant 2019/20 Council Tax Base for Sefton Council and each 
Parish Area as set out in Annex A. 

 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 
Each financial year the Council must consider whether to revise or replace its Local 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The Council must approve and adopt the 2019/20 
Council Tax Reduction scheme by 11 March 2019.  Note - the deadline has been moved 
from 31 January to 11 March.  This has been delivered through the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017.  
 
The report comments on the impact of various changes made to the scheme for the 
current year 2018/19 together with the impact of the Government Welfare Reform 
changes. After consideration of the factors outlined in the report it is proposed that the 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 remains unchanged for working age 
claimants. 
 

Long-term empty homes premium 
 
Increasing the long-term empty homes premium is intended to encourage owners of 
homes that have been empty for more than two years to bring them back into use. Any 
additional income raised from the premium will help support the provision of Council 
services. 
 
Council Tax Base 
 

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) 
Regulations 2012, as amended, the Council is required to set a tax base for both Sefton 
Council and for each Parish Area for 2019/20 before 31 January 2019. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
 

The Council revised its local Council Tax Reduction Scheme in 2018/19 following a 
consultation process. The changes were introduced in April 2018 and continue to be 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



 

 

monitored to fully assess the impact. A longer period is needed to fully evaluate the 
impact of the changes and to allow a period of stability for residents claiming Council 
Tax Reduction. As a result, no alternative options for change have been considered for 
2019/20. 
 
Empty Homes Premium 
 
The Council could choose not to increase the long-term empty homes premium; 
however, this would not provide any additional incentive for owners of long-term empty 
homes to bring them back into use. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
Revenue Costs 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 
 
There would be no additional revenue implications because of a decision to retain the 
current scheme. The cost of the current council tax reduction scheme discounts has 
been reflected in the council tax base. 
 
Increase in Long-Term Empty Homes Premium to 100% 
 
Increasing the empty homes premium from 50% to 100% is forecast to increase Council 
Tax income by £225,000 in 2019/20. This income is built into Council Tax Base Option 2 
and will be distributed between Sefton Council and its major preceptors 
 
Council Tax Base 
 
Changes to the council tax base will have an impact on the level of Council Tax 
income transferred from the Collection Fund to the Council’s General Fund in 2019/20. It 
will also impact on the amounts due to the Police and Crime Commissioner, and the Fire 
and Rescue Service in the year. 
 
The following table shows the impact of the changes to the tax base between 2018/19 
and 2019/20. Option 1 assumes that the long-term empty homes premium remains at 
50% in 2019/20. Option 2 assumes that the long-term empty homes premium will 
increase from 50% to 100% in 2019/20. These figures are based on the 2018/19 Council 
Tax levels: 
 

Council Tax Income 
Increase (-) / Decrease (+) 
 

Sefton 
Council 

£000 

Police & 
Crime 
£000 

Fire & 
Rescue 

£000 

Total 
 

£000 

Tax Base Option 1 1,542 180 77 1,799 

Tax Base Option 2 1,735 202 87 2,024 

 
(B) Capital Costs 
 

No capital costs applicable. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there 
are specific implications, these are set out below: 

 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
 
The proposed options will deliver administrative efficiencies where possible in support of 
the scheme. 
 

Legal Implications: 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
By Section 5 of Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended 
by the Local Government Finance Act 2012) for each financial year each billing 
authority must 
 

a.  Consider whether to revise its Council Tax Reduction Scheme or to replace it 
with another scheme 

 

b.    Make any revision to its scheme, or any replacement scheme, no later than 11 
March in the financial year preceding that for which the revision or replacement 
is to have effect. Note - the deadline has been moved from 31 January to 11 
March.  This has been delivered through the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017.  

 

c. If any revision to a scheme, or any replacement scheme, has the effect of 
reducing or removing a reduction to which any class of person is entitled, the 
revision or replacement must include such transitional provision relating to that 
reduction or removal as the authority thinks fit. 

 

d.  Before revising its scheme or making a replacement scheme, an authority    
     must: 

 

i. Consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to 

it.  

ii. Publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and 

iii. Consult other such persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in   
the operation of the scheme. 

 
Council Tax Empty Property Homes Premium 
 
The statutory provisions which empower the Council to effect the proposed changes are 
set out in this report.   
 
To comply with public law principles of good decision making a consultation on the 
proposals has taken place and the outcomes are detailed in this report.    
 

Equality Implications: 

The equality implications have been identified and mitigated.  

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable:  The options proposed will help to maintain fairness, 
consistency and is easier for the customer to understand. Working more effectively with 
Universal Credit Full Service aligns the provision for children, disability housing and 
caring responsibilities.   
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable 
 

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Help people out of financial hardship and 
support people into work. 
 

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable 
 

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5484/18.....) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD.4609/18....) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 
 
The precepting authorities (Merseyside Fire Service and Merseyside Police) and the 
combined Authority have been informed of the recommendation no change to the local 
scheme for 2019/20.  
 
Empty Homes Premium 
 
A public consultation on the proposal to increase the council tax empty homes premium 
ran for 5 weeks from 29th October 2018 to 3rd December 2018. Details of the proposal 
are set out in this report and a summary of the consultation findings and equality impact 
assessment can be found at Annex B of this report. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Merseyside supports the Council’s proposals to 
increase the Council Tax premium from 50% to 100% in-line with the new legislation 
from 1 April 2019. 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 

 

In addition, the Police and Crime Commissioner would also support the Council if it was 
minded to charge up to: - 
 
• 200% premium from 1st April 2020 on properties empty for 5 years or more; and 
• 300% premium from 1st April 2021 on properties empty for 10 years or more 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet 
recommendation to Council and approval by Council 24 January 2018. 
 
 

Contact Officer: Diane Turner, Customer Centric Services Manager   

Telephone Number: 0151 934 3481 

Email Address: diane.turner22@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
 
Annex A: Council Tax Base Report 2019/20. 
Annex B: A summary of feedback from the consultation on increasing the Council Tax 
Long term empty Homes Premium from 50% to 100% and the associated equalities 
impact assessment. 

 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Introduction/Background 

 

1.1 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 

1.2. Local Council Tax Reduction replaced Council Tax Benefit (CTB) with effect 
from the 1 April 2013.  The Council Tax Reduction Scheme is a discount 
awarded to those on a low income to help towards the cost of their council tax 
bill. It is based on a person’s household and income. The local scheme rules 
only apply to working age council tax payers. Pensioners are protected by 
legislation and must be provided with the level of council tax support specified by 
the Government. 

 
1.3 The total grant of £24.2m transferred to the Council, Police and Crime 

Commissioner, and Fire Service in 2013/14 to fund the local scheme was £3.0m 
(11%) lower than had previously been provided to fund council tax benefit in 
2012/13. As a result, the Council had to introduce changes to the national 
default council tax support scheme in order to ensure that the local council tax 
support scheme was cost neutral.  As the Council was unable to alter the 
pensioner scheme rules, the saving requirement was met by reducing the level 
of support provided to working age claimants and through technical changes to 
empty property discounts. 

 
1.4 The Council is required by law to review the scheme each year irrespective of 

whether it is being amended.  
 
1.5     The Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 must be agreed by full Council 

by 11th March 2019. 
 
 
 
2.   Review of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 

 

2.1. Areas Covered by the Scheme Review 
 

To satisfy the requirement to review the Council Tax Reduction Scheme the 
following key areas were evaluated: 

 

  Claimant caseload 

  Scheme expenditure 

  Impact on the most vulnerable claimants 

  Welfare reform changes 

  Council Tax collection 

  Attachment of Benefits 

  Review of scheme principles 

  Council Tax Exceptional Hardship fund 
 

 
2.2 Claimant Caseload 
 

2.3 The table below shows the caseload data at 30th September 2018 compared to 
caseload data at the end of each year since the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
was introduced in 2013/14. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
Year Date Pensioners Working 

Age 
Total Change 

2013/14 03.04.14 14,655 16,025   30,680 n/a 

2014/15 01.04.15 13,925 15,349   29,274    -1,406 

2015/16 31.03.16 13,206 14,886   28,092    -1,182 

2016/17 31.03.17 12,541
23 

14,524
41 

  27,065 -1,027 

2017/18 31.03.18 11,970 14,005   25,975 -1,090 

2018/19 30.09.18 11,650 13,951   25,601   -374 
 

The working age caseload can be split further: 
 

Year Date Employed Other Total Change 

2013/14 03.04.14 2,874 13,151 16,025 n/a 

2014/15 01.04.15 2,748 12,601 15,349 -676 

2015/16 31.03.16 2,504 12,382 14,886 -463 

2016/17 31.03.17 2,193
4 

12,331
97 

14,524
641 

-362 

2017/18 31.03.18 1,900 12,105 14,005 -519 

2018/19 30.09.18 1,763 12,188 13,951 -54 
 
2.4  Pensioner Claimants: Since the initial implementation of the scheme in 2013/14 

the number of Pensioner Claimants has declined in every year. The total change 
in pensioner claimant numbers between 2013/14 and 2017/18 was -2,685, which 
is a reduction of -18.3%. Pensioner claimant numbers have continued to fall in 
2018/19. 

 
2.5 Scheme Expenditure 

 
The following table shows the Council Tax Reduction Scheme Expenditure 
reported in the Revenue Outturn Return compared to the mid-year estimate for 
2018/19: 

 
Year Source Pensioners 

 
£000 

Working 
Age 
£000 

Total 

 
£000 

Change 

 
£000 

2013/14   RO Return 13,305 9,907 23,212 n/a 

2014/15   RO Return 12,152     10,364 22,516 -696 

2015/16   RO Return 11,895       9,760 21,655 -861 

2016/17 RO Return 11,540     10,559 22,099 +444
615 2017/18 RO Return 11,378     10,948 22,326 +227 

2018/19 Estimate 12,634     10,182 22,816 +490 
 

Notes: 
 

1. 2013/14: The split of Pensioner and Working age costs included an estimate 
based on ceased cases so may not provide an accurate basis for comparison. 

 
2. 2016/17: The increase in the total cost included the impact of the reduction in 

claimant contribution, from 20% in 2015/16 to 16% in 2016/17 and the Council 
Tax increase of 3.69% in year. 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



 

 

3. 2018/19 Estimate: Pensioner cost is the amount reported in the 2018 CTB 
return shown below. The working age amount is the difference between the 
pensioner cost and the total cost forecast for the year. 

 
 
2.6  Council Tax Base Return Data 

 

          The following table provides a view of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme     

          expenditure based on weekly payments recorded in early October as reported in    

          the Council Tax Base Return: 
 

Year Source Pensioners 
 

£000 

Working 
Age 
£000 

Total 
 

£000 

Change 
 

£000 

2013 CTB Return 12,602 10,214 22,816 n/a 

2014 CTB Return 12,491 10,260 22,751 -65 

2015 CTB Return 11,991 10,033 22,024 -727 

2016 CTB Return 12,503 9,918 22,421 +397 

2017 CTB Return 12,579 9,816 22,395   -26 

2018 CTB Return 12,634 9,742 22,376   -19 
 

 

2.7  Impact on the most vulnerable claimants 
 

The scheme implemented for 2018/19 continues to address the Council’s 
priorities to minimise the impact on the most vulnerable, by seeking to strike a 
balance between dealing with Council priorities whilst supporting the financially 
vulnerable. The Council, having recognised the impact on communities, has 
introduced a range of mitigating actions, including: 

 
 Provision of an Exceptional Hardship Fund (see Section 2.11) 

 

 Maintenance of core aspects of the Government Housing Benefit scheme 
that provides additional assistance where there are children, disability and 
caring responsibilities. 

 

 Council Tax collection – 12-month instalment payments continue to be 
offered to council tax payers. 

 

 Enforcement action – a sensitive approach was adopted to consider the 
potential vulnerability of Council Tax support claimants. Before cases are 
referred to Enforcement Companies a vetting stage has been introduced 
and cases are dealt with under a separate debt recovery process to 
minimise potential increases in debt. 
 

A role has been created within the Revenues team to monitor vulnerability 
issues and identify areas for improved processes.  For example, care leavers 
and the issue of severe mental impairment, to help ensure that there is an 
effective communication in place to provide awareness. 

 
Regular meetings are held with the Sefton Citizens Advice to discuss ways of fast-

tracking their enquiries and holding recovery action whilst money advice is sought. 

The Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services areas are reviewing all 
Page 31

Agenda Item 7



 

 

documentation to improve signposting to customers to use these services which 

include ‘’drop in’’ dates without the need to make an appointment and late-night 

opening of Citizen Advice Bureau offices. 

 
 

 

 

 

 
2.8  Welfare Reform Changes 
 

The Government has implemented a series of welfare reform changes aimed at cutting 
the cost of welfare payments and providing more incentives to work. These changes 
have had an impact on many claimants and the value of council tax reduction for 
claimants. 

 
Because of the Government making alterations to the Housing Benefit scheme and other 
welfare reform changes, specifically relating to the rollout of Universal Credit, there was a 
need to make some technical changes to the Council’s Local Council Tax Reduction 
scheme, for non-pensioner claimants only, so that both schemes are more aligned.  
Council therefore approved the following changes for the Council’s Local Council Tax 
Reduction scheme for 2018/19 to take effect from 1st April 2018. 

 

The table below provides a summary of the changes implemented for 2018/19  
and the impact as at 12th November 2018: - 
 

Description of the 
change 

Comment 

Fixed Income Period for six 
months 

There are 770 cases with a Fixed Income Period applied.  
 
By setting a Fixed Income Period, Council Tax Reduction does 
not need to be recalculated each month when earnings fluctuate.   
The Benefits Service continue to review the claims to identify 
what the change is and decide if it requires reassessment.   
 
There are some administrative and efficiency savings as Council 
Tax Reduction cases will not be recalculated each month where 
earnings fluctuate. Notification letters are not produced when 
there is no recalculation, revised Council Tax bills are not issued 
and customers do not have a need to contact the Council to ask 
why their Council Tax bill has changed etc.  
 
 

Apply a minimum income 
floor for all Council Tax 
Reduction new claims 
where they have been self-
employed for more than 12 
months. 
 

There are 10 Council Tax Reduction claims where the minimum 
income floor has been applied. All but 2 of the cases resulted in 
the customer not qualifying for Council Tax Reduction as a result 
of the minimum income floor being used.  The low number 
affected is not surprising as the provision only applies to new 
claims. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



 

 

This change mirrors the 
rules used in Universal 
Credit 

Temporary absence rules 
for Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Reduction for 
those who leave the 
country for more than four 
weeks.   

No claims have been identified that are affected by this change.    
 
The four-week absence period can be extended by a further four-
weeks if absence is linked to the death of a close relative or up to 
26-weeks in certain other specified circumstances.  

Reform of Bereavement 
benefits 
Bereavement support 
payment is disregarded for 
all other DWP benefits, 
including Housing Benefit 

Currently there is 3 live CTR cases where there is BSP 
(bereavement support payment) recorded on the claim. 

Replicate Income / Capital 
disregard rules for money 
received from We Love 
Manchester Emergency 
fund and London 
Emergencies fund 

No claims have been identified that are affected by this change.  

 

 

 
2.9 Council Tax collection 
 
National Council Tax Collection 2017/18 
 
Official statistics on local authority council tax collection rates for 2017/18, published by 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) on 21 
September 2018, indicated that the national average in-year collection rate for the year 
was 97.1% (down from 97.2% in 2016/17). The average in-year collection rate for 
Metropolitan Districts was 95.4% (unchanged from 95.4% in 2016/17). 
 
Sefton Council Tax Collection 2017/18 
 
The table below shows the amount of Council Tax billed and collected during 
2017/18: 
 

Recorded at 31 March 2018 Liability 
Raised 
£000 

Received 
In Year 

£000 

Collection 
Rate 

% 

    

CTRS Cases - Working Age 3,593 2,574 71.6 

CTRS Cases - Pensioner Age 1,709 1,722 100.8 

Other Council Tax Payers 137,124 132,812 96.9 

Total (in-year collection) 142,426 137,108 96.3 

 
The in-year collection rate reduced from 97.2 % in 2012/13 under the council tax benefit 
system to 96.2% in 2013/14 when council tax support was localised. Since then the 
overall collection rate has remained within a small range from 96.2% to 96.3%. The in-

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 

 

year collection rate for 2017/18 was 96.3%, which is 0.9% higher than the average for 
Metropolitan Districts. 
 
 
Sefton Council Tax Collection 2018/19 
 
As at 31st October 2018 the in-year Council Tax collection figure was 64.25%. This is a 
drop of 0.5% on the equivalent comparison in 2017/2018. 
 
There are several factors which have contributed to the fall in collection in 2018/2019. 
 

 Roll out of Universal Credit has resulted in delays in customers receiving their 

payments and this has had a knock-on effect regarding their ability to pay Council 

Tax. 

 

 Delays in receiving Attachment of Benefits monies – when a customer already 

subject to an Attachment of Benefit Order moves on to Universal Credit their 

existing Attachment of Benefit Order with the Department for Work and Pensions 

(DWP) is cancelled and has to be resubmitted to the Universal Credit Team. This 

can lead to a period when no deductions are made. 

 

 The number of customers advising the Council that they are seeking insolvency or 

debt advice has increased. In these instances, customers tend not to make 

required Council Tax payments. 

 
 A greater awareness of vulnerability has meant that as soon as an issue is 

identified in most cases recovery action is placed on hold whilst the vulnerability 
aspect is assessed. It may also result in the Council entering into payment 
arrangements which take slightly longer to repay because of a genuine financial 
vulnerability being identified. 

 
 

Attachment of Benefits (AOB) 
 

Since the introduction of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme in April 2013 the number of 
working age Council Tax support claimants falling into arrears grew. One recovery 
option open to the Council in respect of benefit claimants is to apply for an attachment 
of benefits (AOB) via the courts.  Under this option the Court can require a payment of 
up to £3.70 per week to be made by the DWP directly from the claimant’s benefits to 
meet Council Tax arrears. 
 
Payments by AOB do provide some certainty to both the Council and the debtor. For the 
Council, the payments do guarantee regular income from the debtor. For the debtor, 
there is the security of knowing that a debt is being paid by a deduction from their 
benefit. 
 
However, AOB is not a perfect solution to the problem of growing debt for the following 
reasons: - 

 
 An AOB cannot be applied without first having taken the debtor to court to obtain 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



 

 

a Liability Order. Due to the need to follow the correct legislative timeline for 
obtaining a Liability Order, payment by AOB cannot commence until part way 
through the year. Typically for a bill issued in March the first payments would not 
be made by the DWP until August of the same year.  

 
 Many debtors have arrears outstanding for multiple years Council Tax. An AOB 

can only be used to collect one debt at a time. In addition, current legislation does 
not allow the Council to take any other form of debt recovery (e.g. use of 
Enforcement Agents) whilst an AOB is in place.  To mitigate this, people on AOB 
have been issued letters asking them to contact the Council for advice, to make 
alternate payment arrangements or seek financial advice from Sefton’s Citizens 
Advice.  However, this initiative met with only a few people contacting the 
Revenue Service to make arrangements to pay. 

 
 Collection of Council Tax debt by way of AOB is not the highest priority of debt 

administered by the DWP. Therefore, the level of recovery will be affected when 
people have multiple debts e.g. rent and energy debts are given a higher priority. 

 
 Many new claimants for Council Tax Reduction have already accrued debts 

before an AOB can be considered. 
 

 At the commencement of the scheme the maximum deduction of £3.70 was lower 
than the minimum weekly Council Tax charge for all property bands. The 
minimum contribution of 20% towards the Council Tax was greater than the 
amount that could be collected within the year by AOB. This created a problem of 
debt being carried forward to the following year. Therefore, whilst debt payments 
are being collected regularly the amount of debt at the end of each year kept 
growing.   

 
To try and break the cycle of debt the Council Tax Reduction Scheme was amended 
with effect from 1st April 2016 to reduce the minimum contribution rate to 16%. This rate 
was calculated so that the AOB payment of £3.70 per week was more than would be 
due from Council Tax for many of the claimants. Below is a snapshot of the amount of 
debt being recovered under AOB and the amount of debt still waiting recovery by AOB 
 

 As at 01.04.17 As at 01.04.18 As at 31.10.18 

AOB in Payment £890,256 £916,181 £1,154,826 

No. of Cases 5395 5200 6423 

AOB Pending £2,632,588 £3,216,978 £3,784,434 

No. Of Cases           11496 14083
9809 

16301 

 
A significant number of customers have arrears for more than one financial year. As only 
one Attachment of Benefit Order may be deducted at a time there has been a significant 
increase in the number of pending cases. These cases are effectively stacked up until an 
earlier order is paid.  No recovery action may be taken in the interim and the value of 
such cases is increasing year on year.  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Review of Scheme Principles 
 

The local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is based on five principles and the review is 
summarised below: 

 

Principle (CTRS) Scheme working for non-pensioner 
claimants? 

The Council will continue to 
support work incentives 

Yes – The council continues to operate a system which 
disregards certain amounts of money from customers 
earnings through employment (and self-employment) 
when calculating entitlement. 

 

This results in some additional support to those 
customers receiving Universal Credit (UC) who are in 
low paid work, following the removal of UC work 
allowances from April 2016 

The Council will continue to 
recognise the additional 
needs of our most 
vulnerable residents. 

Yes – The council continues to make additional 
allowances and give additional support to those 
receiving certain DWP sickness benefits, disability 
benefits and benefits for Carers when calculating 
entitlement. 

 

Additionally, the council continues to disregard certain 
disability benefits as income when calculating 
entitlement 

 

Procedures were reviewed for the collection of non- 
payment of Council Tax to ensure non-disproportionate 
impact on the most vulnerable households. Also 
financial budgeting skills and advice is made available 
to all claimants. 

 

The Council Tax Exceptional Hardship Fund – is 
available to those in the greatest financial need with fair 
and transparent criteria for awards. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



 

 

The Council will continue to 
recognise the additional 
needs of families with 
children 

Yes – Child Benefit and Child Maintenance payments 
are not taken into account as income when calculating 
entitlement to CTRS. 

 

Additional allowances are given when calculating 
entitlement for where there is a disabled child in the 
family. 

 

The CTRS scheme also mirrors provisions in the 
Housing Benefit scheme by taking child care costs into 
account for low income working families 

 

The Council will continue to include the Family Premium 
when calculating the Council Tax reduction. This was 
removed for all new Housing Benefit claims from May 
2016.  The Council has also chosen not to mirror the 
changes made to Housing Benefit which restrict the 
amount of support given to families with more than two 
children within its CTR scheme.  

The Council supports 
households staying 
together to make better use 
of housing in Sefton and 
reduce homelessness. 

Yes - The amount of Council Tax Reduction taken away 
from a customer when other adults live in the household 
(known as a non-dependant deduction), was reduced in 
2013 and still remains at those lower levels. 

The Council will continue to 
have due regard to the 
Armed Forces Covenant 

Yes – War Disablement and War Widows pensions in 
calculating CTRS, including any Armed Forces 
compensation in accordance with the covenant is 
disregarded. This also includes the service attributable 
element of the armed forces pension could also be 
disregarded as income when calculating entitlement. 

 

 
 

2.11 Council Tax Exceptional Hardship Fund (EHF) 
 

A key feature of the local council tax support scheme was the creation of an exceptional 
hardship fund with an annual budget of £150,000 to help mitigate hardship issues for 
vulnerable working age council tax support claimants.  The fund is used to reduce 
council tax bills when an individual is judged to be facing severe financial hardship. The 
fund is administrated within an agreed policy approved by Cabinet Member for 
Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services. 
 

 

For the purposes of administration, the decision to grant any reduction in liability is 
considered under any one of three categories, which includes “Exceptional Financial 
Hardship - for Council Tax payers who have qualified for support under the Local 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme but who are still experiencing severe financial 
hardship”. 
 

 

The Discretionary Reduction in liability Policy replaced the Council Tax Exceptional 
Hardship Scheme that has been in place since April 2013. That scheme was introduced 
by the Council to mitigate against potential issues that may have arisen because of the 
abolition of Council Tax Benefit and the introduction of the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme. 
 

 

  The following is a breakdown of awards for period 1st April – 31st October 2018 
 
 839 claimants received an award 

 Total Amount Awarded = £99,173.73 

 Average award £118.20 

 Average length of award = 6 months 

 491 claimants receiving an award have received an award previously 

 261 claimants have received an award on 3 or more occasions 

 139 claimants have received an award on 5 or more occasions 

 Highest number of awards = 10 

 479 claims have been refused 
 
 

 
2.12 Summary of local Council Tax Reduction Scheme Review 2018/19 
 
The number of claimants eligible for support has reduced in each year since 2013/14. 
The number of claimants has continued to reduce in 2018/19. In the first 6 months of the 
year the total number of claimants had reduced by 374 (1.4%) to 25,601 (11,650 
pensioner age and 13,951 working age). 
 
The forecast cost of the scheme has increased by £0.490m (2.2%) in 2018/19 to 
£22.816m (at 30/09/18). This is due to the impact of an average council tax increase of 
6.0% and the offsetting impact of a reduction in claimant numbers. 
 
Welfare Reform Changes introduced since 1 April 2017 are expected to continue to 
increase the cost of providing council tax support in 2019/20. The financial impact will 
depend on the number of claimants affected. 
 
Council Tax in year collection rates fell by 1.0% to 96.2% in 2013/14 after the 
replacement of council tax benefit with the local council tax support scheme. The 
collection rate has remained at a similar level since, with a collection rate of 96.3% 
being achieved in 2017/18. This was 0.9% higher than the average collection rate for all 
Metropolitan Districts. 
 
The Exceptional Hardship Fund continues to operate within budget whilst helping 
mitigate the impact of CTRS on the most vulnerable council tax payers. 
 

The success of the local Council Tax reduction scheme to date and the various 
changes made in previous years indicates that there is no requirement to change the 
scheme in the next financial year. 

 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Therefore, no changes to the existing scheme are proposed for 2019/20. This will allow 
more time to assess the longer term impact of the  changes  made  in 2018/19. It will 
also allow the Council to measure the impact of future welfare changes and will 
provide a period of stability for council tax support claimants. 
 

3. Council Tax Reduction Scheme - Consultation 
 

The statutory provisions are silent on the consultation required when a council is not 
proposing to change its Council Tax reduction scheme. 
 

Letters will be issued to the precepting authorities –  Merseyside Police and 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service notifying them that no change is being proposed.  
The combined Authority will also be notified of no change.  
 
4. Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Department for Communities and Local Government issued a report in February 2014 
reminding local authorities of their key duties  when  deciding  on  Local Council Tax 
reduction Schemes: 
 

  Public Sector Equality Duty (The Equality Act 2010) 
 

  Duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty (The Child Poverty Act 2010) 
 

  The Armed Forces Covenant 
 

  Duty to prevent Homelessness (The Housing Act 1996) 
 
A detailed equality assessment was undertaken and published as part of the design 
and implementation of CTRS for 2013/14.  This assessment had been reviewed in the 
context of the proposed options for 2016/17 and found there was no disproportionate 
impacts as the mitigating actions put in place for the 2013/14 scheme remained. 
 
The addendum to the original assessment is available on the Council Website to 
review. http://smbc-modgov-01/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42533 
 

 
5.   Proposal to Increase in Long-Term Empty Homes Premium to 100% 
 
5.1   Background 
  
Since 1st April 2013 Councils have been able to charge a council tax premium of up to 
50% on unfurnished properties that have been left empty for more than two-years as a 
means of incentivising owners of these properties to bring them back into use.  The 
decision to charge a 50% empty homes premium in Sefton was approved by the Council 
in January 2013, after consultation with the public and key stakeholders in 2012.  
 
Under current legislation the premium cannot apply to homes that are empty due to the 
occupant living in armed forces accommodation for job-related purposes, or to annexes 
being used as part of a main property.  Furthermore, the council tax system provides 
statutory exemptions for properties left empty for a specific purpose – for example, when 
a person goes into care. However, there is no statutory exemption from the premium for 
properties that are genuinely on the market for sale or letting.  Councils also have 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7

http://smbc-modgov-01/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42533


 

 

powers to apply discretionary discounts in cases where homes are empty due to special 
circumstances – for example, financial hardship, fire or flooding. 
 
The premium may be applied when a property has been empty for two years, 
irrespective of how long its current owner has owned it. Therefore, it is possible for an 
individual to buy a property which has already been empty for two years and be liable for 
the premium immediately.  This scenario may occur if, for instance, the individual does 
not occupy the property immediately because they wish to extend or renovate the 
property. If the long term empty property is occupied for a period of 6 weeks or less it is 
regarded as not having been occupied for the purposes of the two-year period. 
Occupancy of a long-term empty property for more than 6 weeks “resets the clock” for 
this purpose. 
 
5.2   Legislative Changes from 2019/20 onward 
  
The Government has introduced legislation that will allow local authorities to increase the 
empty homes premium to 100% of council tax from 1st April 2019.  
 
The Rating (property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 
2018 received Royal Assent on the 1st November 2018. This legislation allows local 
authorities to charge the following maximum amounts of council tax empty homes 
premium: 
 
• 100% premium from 1st April 2019 on properties empty for 2 years or more; 
• 200% premium from 1st April 2020 on properties empty for 5 years or more; 
• 300% premium from 1st April 2021 on properties empty for 10 years or more. 
 
These are the maximum allowable empty homes premium charges. 
 
The Government has introduced his change because there is a serious shortage of 
decent, affordable housing, and tackling the issue of empty homes, while also seeking to 
ensure that we respect the rights of property-owners, is part of the solution. There are 
currently more than 200,000 properties standing empty in England. As well as being a 
blight on the local community and attracting squatters, vandalism and anti-social 
behaviour, long-term empty properties are a wasted resource when 1.16 million 
households are on social housing waiting lists. Doubling the cap on the premium will 
allow local authorities to strengthen the incentive for owners of empty homes to bring 
them back into use. 
 
The Government recognises that a one-size-fits-all approach is inappropriate, given that 
different areas will have different housing needs and different numbers of long-term 
empty homes. That is why they are keeping the premium as a discretionary discount, 
allowing local authorities to decide whether it is appropriate for their areas, and what 
level of premium should be charged. 
 
5.3   Long-term Empty Homes in Sefton 
 
The introduction of the premium in Sefton has been successful in encouraging owners to 
bring long-term empty properties back into use. The number of accounts paying the 
premium has reduced by 136 (17.3%) from 786 in April 2013 to 650 in August 2018. 
 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



 

 

As well as charging the empty homes premium, there are other Council initiatives to help 
bring empty homes back into use, this includes offering advice to owners through 
sending regular letters and the Council’s property accreditation scheme that helps empty 
home owners find tenants for their property. The Council’s Housing Standards Team will 
also work with owners to bring their properties back into use. However, in some cases 
enforcement action is required when the property is causing a statutory nuisance and the 
owner is uncooperative or untraceable. 
 
5.4   Proposed Changes from 1 April 2019 
 
It is proposed that the Council increase the premium charge from 50% to 100% in-line 
with the maximum allowable under the new legislation from 1 April 2019, subject to 
consideration of the outcome of the public consultation.  
 
1 April 2019 is the earliest implementation date allowable under the legislation.  
 
The aim of this increase would be to incentivise owners of long-term empty properties to 
bring them back into use. This will increase the stock of available housing in the borough, 
which would assist in achieving the aims of the local development plan. It will also 
increase the amount of council tax income raised from those that continue to leave their 
properties empty. 
 
5.5   Revenue Implications 
 
The proposed change in the long-term empty homes premium from 50% to 100%, is 
forecast to increase the 2019/20 tax base by 126.2 Band D equivalents. 
 
This would give the following increase in Council Tax income in 2019/20: 
 

 2018/19 
Band D 
Charge 

£ 

Additional  
Band D 

Equivalents 

2019/20 
Additional 

Income 
£ 

Sefton Council 1,524.71 126.2 193,000 
Police & Crime Commissioner 177.97 126.2 22,000 
Fire & Rescue Authority 76.56 126.2 10,000 

Total 1,779.24 126.2 225,000 

 
The forecast assumes a 25% reduction in the number of long-term empty homes is 
achieved in 2019/20. The actual number of properties brought back into use could be 
higher or lower than this and will be reflected in future tax base calculations. 
 
Any additional income raised from an increased premium will be used to fund statutory 
services or to keep Council Tax levels down.  
 
5.6   Further Potential increases in future years 
 
It is proposed that a decision on future options to increase the premium charged on 
properties that have been empty for longer than 5 years to 200% from 1 April 2020 and 
those empty for 10 years or more to 300% from 1 April 2021, be deferred until a future 
year pending a review of the impact of the increase proposed in Section 5.4 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 

 

5.7 Consultation  
 
The Cabinet is recommended to consider the outcome of the consultation before making 
a decision to recommend to Council the proposed increase in the long-term empty 
homes premium from 50% to 100% from 1 April 2019. 
 
Consultation findings and Equality Impact Assessment can be found in Annex B  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



 

 

ANNEX A 
SETTING THE COUNCIL TAX BASE FOR 2019/20 

 
1. Setting the Council Tax Base 

 
1.1 The Council Tax Base is the link between the Council’s budget and the level of 

Council Tax.  The tax base will be used to calculate the Council Tax in Sefton, 
once the Council’s budget has been agreed.  The Council is required to calculate 
its own tax base as well as the tax base for each parish council within its 
boundary and have them approved by the 31 January 2019.  
 

1.2 The calculation of the Council Tax Base takes into account many factors such as 
the rate of new building and the trends in people living on their own (Sole 
Occupier Discount).  

 
1.3 The tax base calculation assumes a collection rate of 98.25% in 2019/20, which is 

unchanged from 2018/19. This reflects long-term collection rates. 
 

1.4 From 1 April 2019, the Council has the option to increase the long-term empty 
homes premium from 50% (2018/19 level) up to 100% under new legislation. The 
implications of this option are considered elsewhere in this report. Two alternative 
tax base figures for Sefton Council and each parish area are presented below:  

 Option 1: Long-term empty homes premium remains at 50%. 

 Option 2: Long-term empty homes premium is increased to 100%. 

 
2. Council Tax Base for Sefton Council in 2019/20 

 
2.1 An analysis of the changes between the 2018/19 and the 2019/20 tax base is 

provided in the table below: 
 

 Tax Base for Sefton Council Band D Equivalents 

  2018/20 2019/20 Change 

     
H Dwellings on the Banding List 110,342.6 110,567.1 224.5 
     
Q Exemptions and Discounts    
 Exempt Dwellings -2,007.1 -1,886.3 120.8 
 Disabled Persons Reductions -152.6 -148.3 4.3 
 Sole Occupier & Status Discounts -9,930.6 -9,937.1 -6.5 
 Empty Property Discounts -281.5 -187.9 93.6 

 Total -12,371.8 -12,159.6 212.2 

     
E Empty Homes Premium (50%) 254.9 256.9 2.0 
J Adjustments -647.0 -713.6 -66.6 
Z Council Tax Support Scheme -13,169.0 -12,512.5 656.5 
B Collection Rate Adjustment -1,477.2 -1,495.2 -18.0 
 MOD Properties 7.0 8.0 1.0 
     

 Council Tax Base (Option 1) 82,939.5 83,951.1 1,011.6 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 Continued from previous page    

E Increase Empty Homes Premium to 
100% 

0.0 126.2 126.2 

 Council Tax Base (Option 2) 82,939.5 84,077.3 1,137.8 

 
2.2 The main reason for the changes in the tax base under Option 1 are: 
 

Dwellings on the Banding List: The number of properties on Banding List has 
increased by 204 (0.2%) in the year. 
 
Exempt Dwellings: The number of dwellings subject to a specific exemption 
(Codes A to W) has decreased by 203 (8.1%). This is mainly due to a reduction in 
the number of unoccupied dwellings where occupation is prohibited law (Class G) 
and a reduction in the number of student households (Class N). 
 
Council Tax Support Scheme (CTRS): The number of claimants has continued to 
fall in 2018/19. The amount included in the 2019/20 tax base is based on the 
weekly cost recorded on 30 November 2018. The tax base assumes that claimant 
numbers will continue to fall and an adjustment of 219 Band D equivalents (worth 
approximately £390,000) has been made to the forecast in 2019/20. This is a new 
adjustment and there is a risk that claimant numbers will stabilise or increase over 
the next 12 months leading to a council tax deficit in the year. 

 
3. Council Tax Base in Parish Areas for 2019/20 
 
3.1 There are also new tax base figures for each parish area in 2019/20. The 

following table provides details of the new tax base for each parish under both 
Option 1 and Option 2: 
 

Tax Base for Parish Areas 2019/20 Band D Equivalents 

 Option 1 Option 2 Variation 

Parish of Aintree Village 2,065.5 2,066.9 1.4 
Parish of Formby 9,132.0 9,139.8 7.8 
Parish of Hightown 870.4 870.6 0.2 
Parish of Ince Blundell 167.0 167.2 0.2 
Parish of Little Altcar 333.7 333.9 0.2 
Parish of Lydiate 2,063.8 2,065.2 1.4 
Parish of Maghull 6,640.4 6,647.4 7.0 
Parish of Melling 1,006.6 1,008.7 2.1 
Parish of Sefton 239.7 239.7 0.0 
Parish of Thornton 769.6 770.3 0.7 

 
3.2 The tax base calculation for each of the parish areas is based on the same 

assumptions made in the calculation for Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Annex B 
 

Increase in Long-Term Empty Homes Premium Consultation Findings  
 
1.   Background 
  
A public consultation ran for 5 weeks from 29th October 2018 to 3rd December 2018.  
 
The consultation requested views on the proposal to increase the premium charge from 
50% to 100% from 1 April 2019.  
 
It also asked for views on further options to increase the premium charged on properties 
that have been empty for longer than 5 years to 200% from 1 April 2020 and those empty 
for 10 years or more to 300% from 1 April 2021. 
 
The consultation was available online and by paper form to download where required. 
Direct mailing was used to contact all Council Tax payers currently liable to pay the 
Empty Homes Premium, and the consultation was promoted internally through the 
service, including the Council’s Empty Homes Team.   
 
Letters about the consultation were also sent to various stakeholders including private 
and registered social landlords and our major preceptors Merseyside Fire & Rescue 
Service, Merseyside Police and Crime Commissioner, and the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority. 
 
Information about the survey was also available at the Sefton Borough libraries and our 
One Stop Shops.  The Council also promoted the Consultation on its website, intranet, 
via a press release and Sefton Council’s social media. 
 
The aim of the survey is to ensure that the views of those Council Tax payers affected, 
other stakeholders and members of the public are considered before the decision is 
made to implement the premium from 1 April 2019 and that any exceptions to the 
premium be considered.  
 
 

1. Consultation Options  

The options consulted on were as follows,  
 
Question 1 How strongly do you agree or disagree with the proposals to double the 
Council tax premium on properties that have been left empty for more than 2 years from 
50 per cent to 100 per cent.  
 
o Strongly agree 
o Agree 
o Neither agree nor disagree 
o Disagree 
o Strongly disagree 
 
Question 2 Do you have any comments relating to this proposal? You may wish to 
highlight any circumstances where this premium should not apply other than those 
examples mentioned earlier that are already exempt from Council Tax. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
Question 3 How strongly do you agree or disagree with the potential future changes to 
increase the premium to 200 per cent on homes left empty from 5 to 10 years from April 
2020 and to 300 per cent on those empty for more than 10 years from 1 April 2021?   
 
o Strongly agree 
o Agree 
o Neither agree nor disagree 
o Disagree 
o Strongly disagree 
 
Question 4 Do you have any comments relating to the potential future changes to 
increase the premium to 200 per cent on homes left empty from 5 to 10 years from April 
2020 and to 300 per cent on those empty for more than 10 years from 1 April 2021? You 
may wish to highlight any circumstances where this premium should not apply other than 
those examples mentioned earlier that are already exempt from Council Tax. 
 

3. Analysis of survey results  

 

o  In total, there were 129 responses to the on-line consultation, which is relatively 

substantial for a premium affecting only 645 properties.  

 

o  Details of the capacity in which those who responded to the on line survey are 

listed in the table below:- 

(a) A Member of the public  78 

(b) A Local business owner  2 

(c) A landlord of a property in Sefton that isn’t empty  24 

(d) A landlord of a property that is empty 17 

(e) An elected Member  0 

(f) A local charity, voluntary or community organisation  0 

(g) Other (please specify) Executor  4 

 No response provided 4 

 

3.3  Of the 129 respondents to the online Questionnaire, the following postcodes were 

submitted 

 

Postcode breakdown 

Outside 
Sefton 

L20 L21 L22 L23 L30 

9 11 7 6 9 2 

L31 L37 L38 PR8 PR9 
Not 

Completed 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



 

 

3 7 1 19 19 36 

 

3.4  Responses to questions  

Question 1 How strongly do you agree or disagree with the proposals to double the 

Council tax premium on properties that have been left empty for more than 2 years from 

50 per cent to 100 per cent.  

Strongly agree 51 

Agree 15 

Neither agree nor disagree 7 

Disagree 12 

Strongly disagree 43 

No response provided  1 

 

Question 2 Do you have any comments relating to this proposal? You may wish to 

highlight any circumstances where this premium should not apply other than those 

examples mentioned earlier that are already exempt from Council Tax. 

 Comment 

L20 Most Landlords don’t deliberately leave property’s empty for more 
than a year.  
  
As a property owner, I'm trying to find a tenant. Increased council 
tax penalises me for this. 
 
I agree that increasing the council tax on long term empty 
properties is a fair approach as long as constructive advice is 
available from the council. I feel that the initial exemption of one 
month for vacant unfurnished properties should be extended to two 
months. 
 
There may also be economic reasons for the property being empty. 
Only if the owner does not cooperate with the Council to change 
this should the premium may be in place.  
 
Monies raised should be put towards social housing care. 
 
Why should anyone have to be "incentivised", or to put it another 
way, bullied and forced into occupying, or putting their property up 
for rent, or even for sale, just because it has been empty for a 
certain length of time? It is THEIR house, NOT a COUNCIL house, 
and therefore it is the OWNER's right to choose what they do with 
their property, as long as it is not illegal or anti-social, and all the 
bills are paid. It is irrelevant how long a private house stays empty, 
as long as it is kept in a reasonable state of repair and is not 
causing any problems to the neighbours, so therefore, the owner 
should only have to pay the standard rate of Council Tax like other 
property owners, NOT an inflated rate. It is not up to private 
property owners to solve the Council's housing problem, nor is it up 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



 

 

to them to be an easy target to solve Sefton Council's financial 
problems. The Council should be targeting those who deliberately 
evade paying Council tax, not ripping off those who do pay - this 
proposal is just wrong. Just because somebody owns a property 
does not mean that they are rich. I inherited my house from my 
parents who worked extremely hard to buy a house which they 
would eventually leave to me; they were very proud of being able 
to do this for me. As well as having a strong emotional attachment 
to the house, I am disabled, on a very low income, and therefore 
unable to renovate the house myself, or pay for a builder to do it. 
Why should I be penalised by having to pay a huge premium? I 
have done nothing wrong, I am not a scrounger who expects 
something for nothing; I pay all the bills on the property. Likewise, 
somebody who is working and on a low income cannot afford to 
pay a builder to renovate their property and so would have to do it 
themselves at weekends and after work - a long job. Why should 
they be penalised with a huge premium?    
 
An excellent proposal. The Council needs to generate revenue in 
any way possible. 
 
The refurbishment of this property is progressing well & being done 
to a high standard. This is taking longer & costing more than we 
anticipated, but the property is in good repair & not causing any 
nuisance or issue for neighbours (with whom we are on very good 
terms) or Sefton Council. The additional imposition of Council Tax 
costs would inevitably lead to financial pressures which could offset 
completion of refurbishment works. We are retired people who are 
doing our best to look after a house that has been in our family 
since 1941.  
 
My property was seriously vandalised by last council tax tenant and 
I just haven't got the funds (in excess of £3000) required for repair 
and replacement. 
 
As a private landlord with one property, our former home, the 
additional financial burden of having an empty property was not 
one i was expecting. Unfortunately, tenants are not perfect and i 
have suffered through non-payment of rent, eviction costs and 
extensive repairs of damage caused by the tenant. 
So, despite having to meet the mortgage on the property while it is 
empty, and pay for repairs the recent changes in council tax cause 
further burden. Originally a 6 month exemption period applied to 
empty properties. That has now reduced to one month. The 
increase in premiums adds further to my financial issues. 
 
It is not my intention that the property remains empty, why would 
it? But additional council tax premiums simply prevent or delay the 
necessary work required to get the property in rental condition. 

L21 If a property is up for sale they should not have to pay the charges.  
 
Your proposal would punish people who are already punished and 

Page 48

Agenda Item 7



 

 

will do nothing to improve the poor housing situation.  There are 
many reasons for houses to be left unoccupied for a length of time 
and none of these are to benefit the owner. Your proposal, and 
indeed your current policy, merely compounds the financial 
hardship.  It would be far more effective to offer help to the owners 
of long term occupied homes to get them ready for sale/rental. 
Loans and grants should be available.  Compulsory purchase could 
also be an option should the owners keep a property empty for two 
years or, perhaps, a commandeering of the property to re rented to 
deserving people with the equivalent of social rent only going to the 
owners.  There are many solutions to the housing shortage and the 
number of unoccupied homes and none of them involve imposing 
what amounts to monthly fines.   
 
Sometimes people own properties that have fallen into disrepair 
and they do not have the funds to renovate it.  
 
I think this possibly to apply to landlords, however I wouldn't agree 
with it for our circumstances. My mother passed away and we have 
been trying to sell her bungalow. Naturally it's in our interests to get 
rid as soon as possible but it's not been as easy as it sounds. The 
property has sold 6 times, but the sale has been withdrawn for one 
reason or another (not due to anything wrong with the property) so 
here we are over 12 months down the line. We are constantly 
worried about the property being broken into because there are no 
police to deal with that. I have emailed many times about recruiting 
more police but she doesn’t reply. The fact is that your council 
probably owns many of the empty properties anyway.  
 

L22 If someone can afford to leave a property empty for that length of 
time they're clearly able to afford it, so the charges are an entirely 
appropriate incentive to correct the commercial priorities. 
 
Unfortunately, I am unaware of all the reasons that people have for 
not paying their council tax on an empty property but the existing 
exclusions should remain. 
 
For small landlords, this is a crippling double penalty when added 
to the already lost the rental income.  Landlords with large 
portfolios (exceeding £1 million) who might have property for 
investment purposes can afford to pay 100%.  
 
No one should be expected to pay more than 100% charge. The 
services for the property are the same for everyone whether the 
property is empty or occupied. In fact, empty properties are not 
impacting on Sefton Council services for a property. 
 
The property needs work and this further expense would further 
delay the work going ahead If the owner is living on a pension may 
be some assistance could be provided. 

L23 As a landlord in Sefton I have previously been impacted by the 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50% additional charge.  I have purchased empty properties which 
have required full renovations before I could find tenants.  As one 
property had already exceeded the 2 years of being empty when I 
purchased it I was liable for the additional council tax charges. This 
I felt was unfair. Surely taking a property which is not liveable and 
has been empty for some time and doing the necessary 
renovations to provide additional affordable homes in the area is a 
good thing and should be rewarded and not punished.  That said I 
agree that properties should not be kept empty and a penalty 
should be in place for those who sit on empty properties. I am 
aware that this can be a problem in some areas I think a fair 
addition to the new rules would be to reset the clock one these 
properties when newly purchased to provide landlords like myself 
the opportunity and incentive to improve living standards within 
Sefton. 
 
There are a number of unused/ derelict buildings and it would be a 
positive result if an increased council tax payment forced the 
owners into letting or selling them, to bring vibrancy to the area. 
However, those with legitimate reasons for leaving the property 
empty should not be penalised. 
 
I think the 100% charge should be applied after 6 months of being 
empty. It is inappropriate to leave a property empty while so many 
people need a home and councils are having financial difficulties.  
 
It might make the owner make more of an effort to get the property 
occupied. 
 
It is crucial that people do not continue to have incentives to leave 
houses empty by the current lower council tax rate, given the 
numbers of homeless people and others who may be living in 
cramped conditions. This increase would hopefully be some 
deterrent. 
 
I think you should look at the finances of the owners of these 
properties. If they live elsewhere it's possible that they can't afford 
more council tax and by taking them to court you would waste even 
more money. I don't think it should be a complete ban on the 
exemption of the 50% tax as it is now.  I even think that is too much 
- isn't the tax for facilities used and if no-one lives there they don't 
use any facilities!  
 
I would suggest the increase should be even larger, say to 200%, 
to have a greater effect on the situation. 
 
It is immoral for people to have unused living accommodation while 
there are so many families without a home. 
 
I feel that a lot of people for good reasons could have a property for 
2 or 3 years empty so 50% seems fairer 
 

Page 50

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Where probate has been granted and the property is for sale 
 
My parents are stuck living next door to an empty property that has 
been that way in excess of 10 years. Owners refuse to sell yet put 
solar shades on a roof that is in a bad state of repair? My elderly 
parents are petrified that squatters will move in and we have no 
way of contacting these selfish owners. My parents and their 
neighbours try to keep the front of the house tidy so it isn't obvious 
what the situation is but are too elderly to continue to keep that up. 
It is a disgrace the place is left to rot. Hit the owners where it hurts - 
in their pocket and this will hopefully make them do something 
about the property.  
 
The government and local authorities are taking a totally simplistic 
view and failing to understand the complex series of factors that 
can cause properties to remain empty, including for example, 
simple lack of market demand, or lack of financial resource on the 
part of the owner to bring dilapidated properties back from the brink 
back into use.....even just these two example factors can have a 
complex inter-relationship, with one interacting on the other.  The 
proper and productive approach to this problem would be to 
abandon the stick (or at least not make it any bigger) and throw a 
carrot or two at it. 
 
I understand why the proposal would be implemented for empty 
properties that could be brought back into use.  However, this 
should not apply to circumstances such as the one that I am in. I 
am executor to my mother's will - she died in January 2015 and 
probate was obtained in May 2015, since when the property has 
been up for sale.  It is a one bedroomed retirement shared 
ownership flat in XX.  It went on the market at £65,000 and has 
been reduced over time to its current asking price of £44,950 and 
has been on the market with two estate agents.  The shared 
ownership is with a Housing Association and they are difficult to 
deal with and I have lost one buyer due to their incompetence.  In 
the meantime, not only do I have to pay council tax at an additional 
50% rate, but I shall have to pay monthly service charges and a 
sinking fund charge if ever it is sold. There will be very little money 
left by the time this all happens. I feel very strongly that I should not 
be having to pay any council tax, as I receive no services 
whatsoever, never mind an additional premium.  Due to myself 
spending lots of my time caring for my mother, I managed to keep 
her out of Sefton's Social Services system, and she never needed 
any additional support from the Council.  Also, the Council itself 
does nothing to help me sell the flat - sale boards are not allowed 
outside the listed building. I am unable to bring the flat into use 
unless it is sold, one of the conditions of the lease is that I am 
unable to rent it out. I am extremely concerned whether there will 
be sufficient funds if the council tax charge is further increased. In 
circumstances where an executor to a will is unable to sell or rent a 
property and can prove that they have done everything possible to 
sell it, there should be an exemption.  

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
For someone who is already paying nearly £250.00 a month taking 
it to nearly £400.00 a month is just too much. 
 
 

L30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If a property is up for sale, I can’t see how you can penalise people 
who want to sell the property but it is taking longer than they 
wanted.   
 
Property’s that are up for sale should be exempt from the increase.  
 
We have had the house up for sale for 2 years but can't sell it. 
Properties that are on the market and empty should be exempt 
from this. 
 
When properties are left empty when owners have gone into care 
the council should check that they are indeed empty and should 
take the waived council tax payments from the estate when the 
property is sold. 
 
I strongly disagree with this proposal for the following reasons. I 
realise that everyone’s circumstances are different but mine are as 
follows. I inherited the house when my father passed away. After 
being unable to find a buyer for the house I realised that I would 
have to complete some work on the house in order to bring it up to 
a standard to allow me to either sell or rent the property. As I have 
a home, wife and a young family which I need to support finances 
are quite tight. I agree that as I own the empty property I should 
contribute towards the council but asking for double or treble the 
council tax will not only make the payments impossible to afford 
and so just cause stress and anxiety and the possibility of court 
action for not being able to pay and also make it more difficult to 
pay to renovate the house 

L31 I believe the premium should rise due to the current housing 
shortage and this increase may persuade private landlords to sell 
properties that they cannot rent.  
 

L37 I think owners should have an opportunity to make a case to the 
Council to use its discretion to waive the premium where they have 
been unable to sell or bring their properties back into use due to 
other circumstances out of their control. The Council should also 
take the opportunity to provide help and support to owners of long-
term empty homes to assist them in bringing these properties back 
into use. The Council should not waive the premium where owners 
are marketing their property at an inflated price as this will not help 
to increase the supply of affordable homes. 
 
Without room for discretion this is a very unfair tax to increase to 
100%.  not all property is just kept empty sometimes there are 
issues which mean you cannot get a new tenant and therefore are 
being unfairly penalised. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
Maybe it will force a few sales and reduce pressure on the precious 
B Green Belt you seem so keen to destroy  
 
Council tax should be paid by all if empty or not. 
 
Sheer extortion! An ill-considered 'blanket' approach. Appalling 
because you seem to want to penalise the very people who are 
trying to do the right thing. Our property is vacant again and we (3 
beneficiaries) want to sell the retirement flat and that has been our 
desire since 2004. It has been marketed for sale continuously, 
through estate agents. For a period of about 5 years we rented it to 
a tenant (who has died). The flat is empty again and it is being 
marketed for sale, yet again. Try as we might we cannot sell the 
property which is in a block of retirement flats where other flats are 
regularly up for sale. We are competing with other flat owners 
(sellers) on the same site. The residents are all elderly so any 
would-be buyers have to be over 60 thereby creating a 'niche' 
market.  
 
It should be imposed after 1 year. 2 years is far too generous. 
 
I believe that a 50% initial increase is sufficient. 
 
When a property has genuinely been on the market with local 
estate agents the extra premium should not apply. When you are 
paying over £200 a month in management fees there is absolutely 
no reason to keep a property empty, which has been my personal 
experience. "Largely unfurnished" is too open to personal 
interpretation by council staff.   

PR8 Awaiting planning permission (this process can sometimes be 
protracted and out of the control of the property owner) 
 
If somebody can afford to have an empty house they should be 
able to afford to contribute to the council tax fund also. 
There are too many vacant properties in the Borough, I also think if 
a property has been vacant for 5 years or more, the owners should 
lose the right to ownership and it automatically transfers to the 
Council, this if obviously where the owner can't be bothered to deal 
with any issues with the property 
 
Instead of increasing to 100% make it 150 - 200% This will force 
owners to get tenants or sell.  Why does Sefton Council not 
Compulsory Purchase empty homes to use for homeless? 
 
This proposal, and the current 50% premium does NOT incentivise 
home owners of empty properties to "bring them back into use" as:  
You are charging more tax, therefore the owner has LESS money 
to sort their house out and 'bring it back into use'. Therefore, 
prolonging the period of time that the house will be empty.   I 
believe that if the owner of the property is renovating it BEFORE 
they live in it or consequently sell the property, they should be 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



 

 

exempt as the long-term plan is to "bring the property back into 
use". To ensure that this is true, council inspectors or a written 
council policy to state that all work undertaken on the property has 
to be evidenced and sent to the council.  
 
Strongly object as purchased with intent to downsize but having to 
wait to move as husband became ill and would not be suitable, will 
move to property on husband's death.  Your proposal is just a 
punishment for anyone trying to plan responsibly.   
 
What about an empty property that is up for sale but is not selling?  
They should not be penalised because of stagnant housing market. 
 
We would not have properties standing empty for no reason, it 
would be either because there was work needed doing to it or we 
were unable to find a tenant, the fact that we have to pay council 
tax from day 1 is already crippling without increasing it further  
 
As a Expat visiting my own fully furnished property for family visits 
as well as family members using it , If the council puts up the taxes 
I shall have to let it out for shorts lets which benefits neither I nor 
the Council. As someone using less public services the extra 
surcharge is unfair. This is our only home in the UK. Mine is not 
empty but is taxed as if it was. 
 
I can accept that an empty property may warrant a 100% tax as the 
council is losing income on empty properties.   
 
I (together with my brother) purchased an apartment on Lord Street 
for my mother to live in when she was in her 80s.  She died, aged 
101, 18 months ago and the property has been for sale since that 
time. The lease prevents us from letting it, or from selling it to 
someone under 55, or from selling it to a third party (eg the 
Council). We have offered it to the ground landlord without 
success. Each month it is unsold we have to pay approx. £500 
Service Charge plus 100% Council Tax even though we receive no 
services from either RSL or the Council. I am a resident of Sefton 
and also pay full Council tax on the house I share with my wife.  
We have had the apartment redecorated to a high standard and we 
do use it whilst we are overnighting in Southport but we wish to 
sell. The purpose of the legislation is presumably to bring unused 
property to the market. We have been trying to sell for 18 months; 
it is currently listed at a price lower than others in the building. You 
should either target the ground landlords who enforce the 
restrictive conditions in the lease or make an exception for "very 
sheltered accommodation". 
 
I just need to know if I can no longer manage the property will you 
take it off me. I have no other income but my husbands and 
disability pips.  I have mental health issues, at the moment my 
husband is my carer. I do not come under the heading without 
capacity though if I am sick I would come under that category. I 

Page 54

Agenda Item 7



 

 

own no other property.  The flat I own is not occupied but I would 
say it is my second home should I become homeless for whatever 
reason. I did approach your offices for help but they told me if no 
one was living there it was empty (however, it is furnished) so I 
would just have to carry on paying council tax. I don't really know 
what to do.  I can't sell it the lady in the flat below has a life 
threatening illness. They have told me so over a period of several 
years. I find it difficult to cope. 
 
I always considered that a tax or rate had to be fair. If you are 
using the facilities you should pay for them. I already pay rates to 
Sefton as I live in their Borough. I have another property that I 
purchased to house my elderly mother who was a war widow. She 
died late last year and I put the flat up for sale. It will not sell 
because there are a number for sale and the service charge is so 
high. I don’t use the council’s facilities and I am desperately trying 
to sell but nobody wants to buy. I am currently paying 50% rates for 
a flat that nobody lives in nor uses any of the services that the 
Council provide. To increase the empty rate from 50% to 100% 
(and subsequently 200% and 300%) on a property that I am 
desperately trying to sell is patently unfair. The proposed increase 
was to target landlords who are deliberately leaving properties 
empty and not renting them out to tenants. This isn’t the case with 
my circumstances. I know that Councils are strapped for cash and 
they will simply introduce this measure to increase revenue. I have 
the feeling that anything I write will eventually be ignored as raising 
money is paramount. I simply reiterate that the tax/rates must be 
fair. 
 
I cannot afford the mortgage I have on the property let alone 
increased council tax.! 

PR9 I would love you to raise it to 100% considering the empty flat  I am 
trying to sell is costing me 150% of the rateable value into the 
second year of being on the market. 
 
Authorities should be allowed to take all necessary steps to bring 
empty properties back into use. This should include compulsory 
purchase rather than increased Council Tax where property has 
been empty for 5 years or more.  
 
The whole point of council tax is to charge an occupant for using 
council services.  If the property is empty there should actually be a 
nil charge never mind a 100% charge because there are no costs 
to the council. 
 
I am becoming elderly with an elderly husband and mobility 
problems and increasingly struggle to manage the only flat l own 
that is attached to and accessed via my own flat entrance. I have 
had really bad tenants and am reaching the point of not feeling 
able to go on renting emotionally and physically. If these council 
tax changes come into effect l will have to choose between bills l 
would struggle to pay, continuing to rent regardless of my health or 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



 

 

selling the whole property. 
 
Great care must be taken to ensure the owner is not vulnerable. 
Penalties should be in place for any council staff member who fails 
to exercise due diligence. 
 
I have been trying to sell my house for 3 yrs over this period I have 
reduced the price by 80k in a desperate effort to sell. Some 
understanding from the council for those actively trying to sell 
would help enormously. I do agree those empty houses not for sale 
should have incentives to bring them back into homes. But this 
blunt instrument without some consideration for those of us already 
stressed about when will this house stop eating into my pension 
may just be seen as yet another way of bleed the tax payer. 
 
Empty properties often fall into disrepair and neglect, and are not 
nice to see.  
 
If not exempt and unwilling to sell or rent out, then the premium 
seems fair.  Perhaps consideration should be given for discretion to 
waive the premium in genuine cases of inability to sell or rent out a 
property. 
 
This is daylight robbery ! Sefton council still get paid the council tax 
whether the building is empty or not ? It should infect be reduced 
for empty properties as none of the services are being used if the 
property is empty ! Just sheer greed! 
 
I think this is an excellent proposal as homes left empty for that 
long will tend to be neglected damaging the neighbourhood  
 
There is a housing crisis whilst some of the wealthiest people are 
leaving properties to lay empty and unused, accumulating personal 
wealth at the expense of the majority. I fully support increasing the 
council tax levied.  The only slight disagreement I have is the 
suggestion that this is a doubling of the council tax levied. What it 
is is a removal of a discount in council tax that has previously been 
applied. 
 
Three years would be fairer than two. My property is empty 
because I cannot sell it at a reasonable price due to Brexit 
uncertainty. It remains on the market, but I have had few viewings 
and fewer offers, all well below comparable prices. 
 
As an owner of a Residential Care Home we have a Cottage in the 
grounds.  We cannot just rent this property out to anyone.  The 
tenant has to have an enhanced DBS check, related someway to 
the business i.e. a member of staff.  This significantly reduces the 
chance of renting out this property. CQC would not allow us to rent 
the property out to anyone due to the Vulnerability of the elderly 
people living in the Care Home.  The cottage is also connected 
with all Fire related incidents.  We test the Fire alarm weekly at the 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Care Home which is also sounded in the Cottage.  If the Fire alarm 
went off it would also go off in the cottage.  There are lots of issues 
associated with the suitability of the Tenant. We manage a 
retirement complex of 37 rental properties which have on average 
five or six empty at any one time .  These properties are advertised 
weekly but it does not result in the properties all being let.  We pay 
out enough in council tax already and to increase this further would 
be being penalised for a lack of suitable tenants that fit the criteria.   
 
My mother owns a flat in XX. Mum is 86 years old and she lives in 
a care home as she has dementia. I have an Order from the Court 
of Protection which allows me to act for Mum and part of that 
regime is that I need to show that I have acted in Mum’s best 
interest and taken advice where necessary. Father passed away in 
2007. Both Mum and Dad worked hard and saved in order that 
they would be reasonably if modestly provided in their later years. 
Part of the planning was the purchase of the flat.  Over the past 
year I consulted with a financial adviser and Mum’s solicitor. As a 
result, I concluded that there is little point as in selling the flat as 
interest rates are so low. The flat needs major improvements, 
particularly in the bathroom and the kitchen. If Mum funded these 
improvements and let the flat, it would time quite a while to recover 
the outlay. In addition, the cost of the works would deplete the pool 
of money Mum has to pay for her care.  Currently Mum pays the 
standard levy plus 50%. The proposal is that she now pay even 
more council tax. Mum is basically confined to her care home and 
uses very little of the services provided by the local authority, but 
the proposal is for Mum to pay a further increased penalty simply 
because she has poor health.    
 
This must rank as the most ill thought out proposal since the 
bedroom tax. If you have a property to sell with a registered estate 
agent, why should you be penalised, because the market is 
suppressed and is difficult to sell. Unless you sell under market 
value, which I did, after trying to sell for two and a half years, 
paying 50% extra tax, just to get rid.   
 
The Empty Homes premium should be 100% only and should be 
for properties of £100,000 or over, not for property less than that 
amount as you are punishing poor people.  

Outside 
Sefton 

If the home is being advertised for rent, then this should not apply. I 
have a house that is in very good condition (newly refurbished), but 
still we are having trouble finding a tenant. 
 
Empty retirement flat belonging to my deceased father has been on 
market for 2 years - have reduced price but still no sale - I am 
paying maintenance charges and council tax outside my own area 
out of my savings - whilst I understand basic council tax has to be 
paid I think it is unfair to expect executors to pay an additional 
premium when there is nothing more they can do to sell the 
property.  
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



 

 

As a landlord if we had an empty property we would still have a 
mortgage to pay, and I feel it would be unfair to punish us further. 
 
Fully in agreement if no effort is being made to have the property 
occupied. However, I have had the property in Sefton on the 
market for sale ever since my mother passed away in May 2017. 
The lease does not allow me to let the apartment, and it can only 
be occupied by someone over 50. To charge 200% of the Council 
Tax seems totally unfair when I am doing everything I can to sell it. 
Surely in these circumstances, empty properties should also be 
exempt. 
 
I most certainly agree considering that Sefton is at present 
charging me 150% rates for an empty flat that I am desperately 
trying to sell. A 100% rate would be a relief to this pensioner. 
 
Depends on the circumstances as to why a property is unoccupied. 
An increase is unfair to those who intend to live in the property but 
can't at present due to extensive renovations to make a property 
habitable (council tax deductions with his regard are currently not 
sufficient with respect to the period of availability). Therefore, this 
only extends the period the property is uninhabitable and vacant 
due to unavailable cashflow to do the work. 
 

 

 

Question 3 How strongly do you agree or disagree with the potential future changes to 

increase the premium to 200 per cent on homes left empty from 5 to 10 years from April 

2020 and to 300 per cent on those empty for more than 10 years from 1 April 2021?   

 

Strongly agree 48 

Agree 15 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 

Disagree 10 

Strongly disagree 46 

No response provided  1 

 

 

Question 4 Do you have any comments relating to the potential future changes to 

increase the premium to 200 per cent on homes left empty from 5 to 10 years from April 

2020 and to 300 per cent on those empty for more than 10 years from 1 April 2021? You 

may wish to highlight any circumstances where this premium should not apply other than 

those examples mentioned earlier that are already exempt from Council Tax.  

 Comment 

L20 how many council houses are empty.   
 

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



 

 

There is no reason for properties to be left empty for extended 
periods. 
 
Positive proposals work better than simply "fine". I suppose 
landlords/owners have no real reason to have property empty.  
 
How can you charge for a property that isn't using any services?  
 
All the points that I have made in the previous question apply equally 
to this question. Also, the proposal to charge such inflated premiums 
is not only morally wrong, but will not work anyway: On one hand, 
you say that you are trying to encourage property owners to put more 
homes back into use. On the other hand, you say that you want to 
raise more money from the owners of empty properties- you are 
contradicting yourselves! If more properties get put back into use, 
you will get LESS money as the occupiers will only be paying Council 
Tax at the standard rate; not at the ridiculously inflated premiums 
that you are proposing if the properties were to remain empty - it 
doesn't work both ways!! 
 
An excellent proposal. The Council needs to generate revenue in any 
way possible. 
 
We think it would be helpful to consider properties on a case by case 
basis. It should be used to target those properties which are in poor 
repair and/or causing issues for neighbouring properties, the local 
community or the Council. We do not think that these costs should 
go over 150% for properties like ours which are in good repair & 
undergoing further renovations as we are doing our very best to carry 
out improvements as effectively & efficiently as possible. 
 
If council tax is paid I can see no justification to double or treble that. 
 

L21 If a property is up for sale they should not have to pay the charges. It 
is unfair for people who are actively trying to sell their empty property 
to impose these high charges when they may already be paying a 
mortgage and council tax on the empty property AND the property 
they live in.  
 
Your proposal would punish people who are already punished and 
will do nothing to improve the poor housing situation.  There are 
many reasons for houses to be left unoccupied for a length of time 
and none of these are to benefit the owner. Your proposal, and 
indeed your current policy, merely compounds the financial hardship.  
It would be far more effective to offer help to the owners of long term 
occupied homes to get them ready for sale/rental. Loans and grants 
should be available.  Compulsory purchase could also be an option 
should the owners keep a property empty for two years or, perhaps, 
a commandeering of the property to re rented to deserving people 
with the equivalent of social rent only going to the owners.  There are 
many solutions to the housing shortage and the number of 
unoccupied homes and none of them involve imposing what amounts 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



 

 

to monthly fines 
 
I feel that increasing the premium would result in landlords creating 
fake tenancies in order to avoid making payment.  
 

L22 If someone can afford to leave a property empty for that length of 
time they're clearly able to afford it, so the charges are an entirely 
appropriate incentive to correct the commercial priorities. 
 
Unfortunately, I am unaware of all the reasons that people have for 
not paying their council tax on an empty property but the existing 
exclusions should remain. 
 
The increase in costs will mean rents for everyone will have to go up. 
 

L23 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As a landlord in Sefton I have previously been impacted by the 50% 
additional charge.  I have purchased empty properties which have 
required full renovations before I could find tenants.  As one property 
had already exceeded the 2years of being empty when I purchased it 
I was liable for the additional council tax charges.  This I felt was 
unfair. Surely taking a property which is not liveable and has been 
empty for some time and doing the necessary renovations to provide 
additional affordable homes in the area is a good thing and should be 
rewarded and not punished.  That said I agree that properties should 
not be kept empty and a penalty should be in place for those who sit 
on empty properties. I am aware that this can be a problem in some 
areas I think a fair addition to the new rules would be to reset the 
clock one these properties when newly purchased to provide 
landlords like myself the opportunity and incentive to improve living 
standards within Sefton. 
 
There are a number of unused/ derelict buildings and it would be a 
positive result if an increased council tax payment forced the owners 
into letting or selling them, to bring vibrancy to the area. However, 
those with legitimate reasons for leaving the property empty should 
not be penalised. 
 
I think the 100%charge should be applied after 6 months of being 
empty. It is inappropriate to leave a property empty while so many 
people need a home and councils are having financial difficulties.  
 
It might make the owner make more of an effort to get the property 
occupied. 
 
It is crucial that people do not continue to have incentives to leave 
houses empty by the current lower council tax rate, given the 
numbers of homeless people and others who may be living in 
cramped conditions. This increase would hopefully be some 
deterrent. 
 
I think you should look at the finances of the owners of these 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7



 

 

properties. If they live elsewhere it's possible that they can't afford 
more council tax and by taking them to court you would waste even 
more money. I don't think it should be a complete ban on the 
exemption of the 50% tax as it is now.  I even think that is too much - 
isn't the tax for facilities used and if no-one lives there they don't use 
any facilities!  
 
I would suggest the increase should be even larger, say to 200%, to 
have a greater effect on the situation. 
 
It is immoral for people to have unused living accommodation while 
there are so many families without a home. 
 
I feel that a lot of people for good reasons could have a property for 2 
or 3 years empty so 50% seems fairer. 
 
Where probate has been granted and the property is for sale 
 
My parents are stuck living next door to an empty property that has 
been that way in excess of 10 years. Owners refuse to sell yet put 
solar shades on a roof that is in a bad state of affair? My elderly 
parents are petrified that squatters will move in and we have no way 
of contacting these selfish owners. My parents and their neighbours 
try to keep the front of the house tidy so it isn't obvious what the 
situation is but are too elderly to continue to keep that up. It is a 
disgrace the place is left to rot. Hit the owners where it hurts - in their 
pocket and this will hopefully make them do something about the 
property.  
 
The government and local authorities are taking a totally simplistic 
view and failing to understand the complex series of factors that can 
cause properties to remain empty, including for example, simple lack 
of market demand, or lack of financial resource on the part of the 
owner to bring dilapidated properties back from the brink back into 
use.....even just these two example factors can have a complex inter-
relationship, with one interacting on the other. The proper and 
productive approach to this problem would be to abandon the stick 
(or at least not make it any bigger) and throw a carrot or two at it. 
 
I understand why the proposal would be implemented for empty 
properties that could be brought back into use.  However, this should 
not apply to circumstances such as the one that I am in. I am 
executor to my mother's will - she died in January 2015 and probate 
was obtained in May 2015, since when the property has been up for 
sale.  It is a one bedroomed retirement shared ownership flat in XX.  
It went on the market at £65,000 and has been reduced over time to 
its current asking price of £44,950 and has been on the market with 
two estate agents.  The shared ownership is with a Housing 
Association and they are difficult to deal with and I have lost one 
buyer due to their incompetence.  In the meantime, not only do I 
have to pay council tax at an additional 50% rate, but I shall have to 
pay monthly service charges and a sinking fund charge if ever it is 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



 

 

sold. There will be very little money left by the time this all happens. I 
feel very strongly that I should not be having to pay any council tax, 
as I receive no services whatsoever, never mind an additional 
premium.  Due to myself spending lots of my time caring for my 
mother, I managed to keep her out of Sefton's Social Services 
system, and she never needed any additional support from the 
Council.  Also, the Council itself does nothing to help me sell the flat - 
sale boards are not allowed outside the listed building. I am unable to 
bring the flat into use unless it is sold, one of the conditions of the 
lease is that I am unable to rent it out. I am extremely concerned 
whether there will be sufficient funds if the council tax charge is 
further increased. In circumstances where an executor to a will is 
unable to sell or rent a property and can prove that they have done 
everything possible to sell it, there should be an exemption. 
 

L30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If a property is up for sale, I can’t see how you can penalise people 
who want to sell the property but it is taking longer than they wanted.   
 
Property’s that are up for sale should be exempt from the increase.  
 
We have had the house up for sale for 2 years but can't sell it. 
Properties that are on the market and empty should be exempt from 
this. 
 
When properties are left empty when owners have gone into care the 
council should check that they are indeed empty and should take the 
waived council tax payments from the estate when the property is 
sold. 

L31 I believe the premium should rise the current housing shortage and 
this increase may persuade private landlords to sell properties that 
they cannot rent  
 

L37 I think owners should have an opportunity to make a case to the 
Council to use its discretion to waive the premium where they have 
been unable to sell or bring their properties back into use due to 
other circumstances out of their control. The Council should also take 
the opportunity to provide help and support to owners of long-term 
empty homes to assist them in bringing these properties back into 
use. The Council should not waive the premium where owners are 
marketing their property at an inflated price as this will not help to 
increase the supply of affordable homes. 
 
Without room for discretion this is a very unfair tax to increase to 
100%.  not all property is just kept empty sometimes there are issues 
which mean you cannot get a new tenant and therefore are being 
unfairly penalised. 
 
Maybe it will force a few sales and reduce pressure on the precious 
B Green Belt you seem so keen to destroy  
 

Page 62

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Council tax should be paid by all if empty or not 
 
Sheer extortion! An ill-considered 'blanket' approach. Appalling 
because you seem to want to penalise the very people who are 
trying to do the right thing. Our property is vacant again and we (3 
beneficiaries) want to sell the retirement flat and that has been our 
desire since 2004. It has been marketed for sale continuously, 
through estate agents. For a period of about 5 years we rented it to a 
tenant (who has died). The flat is empty again and it is being 
marketed for sale, yet again. Try as we might we cannot sell the 
property which is in a block of retirement flats where other flats are 
regularly up for sale. We are competing with other flat owners 
(sellers) on the same site. The residents are all elderly so any would-
be buyers have to be over 60 thereby creating a 'niche' market.  
 
Make it 200% after 2 years 
 
Other measures should be put into place to bring the properties back 
into use, looking at the reasons why the properties remain empty 
rather than just applying a financial penalty.   
 

PR8 Awaiting planning permission (this process can sometimes be 
protracted and out of the control of the property owner) 
 
If somebody can afford to have an empty house the. They should be 
able to afford to contribute to the council tax fund also.  
 
There are too many vacant properties in the Borough, I also think if a 
property has been vacant for 5 years or more, the owners should 
lose the right to ownership and it automatically transfers to the 
Council, this if obviously where the owner can't be bothered to deal 
with any issues with the property 
 
Instead of increasing to 100% make it 150 - 200% This will force 
owners to get tenants or sell.  Why does Sefton Council not 
Compulsory Purchase empty homes to use for homeless? 
 
This proposal, and the current 50% premium does NOT incentivise 
home owners of empty properties to "bring them back into use" as:  
You are charging more tax, therefore the owner has LESS money to 
sort their house out and 'bring it back into use'. Therefore, prolonging 
the period of time that the house will be empty.   I believe that if the 
owner of the property is renovating it BEFORE they live in it or 
consequently sell the property, they should be exempt as the long-
term plan is to "bring the property  back into use". To ensure that this 
is true, council inspectors or a written council policy to state that all 
work undertaken on the property has to be evidenced and sent to the 
council.  
 
Strongly object as purchased with intent to downsize but having to 
wait to move as husband became ill and would not be suitable, will 
move to property on husband's death.  Your proposal is just a 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



 

 

punishment for anyone trying to plan responsibly.   
 
What about an empty property that is up for sale but is not selling?  
They should not be penalised because of stagnant housing market. 
 
I strongly disagree with both these proposals as it is exorbitant. Why 
should you be penalized unfairly for owning a property that you do 
not want to rent out because of all the problems that this may entail 
(watch channel 5) or sell because of the state of the current housing 
market where we are likely to lose money. The property in question 
was purchase from our pensions and savings for one of our daughter 
who was going to get a mortgage and repay us. However, she has 
since married and purchased a property with her husband having 
taken out a large mortgage. All the costs of the property in question 
has reverted to us, her parents, who are pensioners and do not want 
to get into renting. Why should we be penalised further if we pay 
100% Council Tax. It certainly will not win you or the government any 
votes. I'm totally disillusioned with you all so expect that this is just a 
way of telling us what you intend to do no matter what is said.  
 
It would be more equitable if the Council compulsorily purchased 
such accommodation. 
 

PR9 I would love you to raise it to 100% considering the empty flat  I am 
trying to sell is costing me 150% of the rateable value into the 
second year of being on the market. 
 
Authorities should be allowed to take all necessary steps to bring 
empty properties back into use. This should include compulsory 
purchase rather than increased Council Tax where property has 
been empty for 5 years or more.  
 
The whole point of Council Tax is to charge an occupant for using 
council services.  If the property is empty there should actually be a 
nil charge never mind a 100% charge because there are no costs to 
the council. 
 
I am becoming elderly with an elderly husband and mobility problems 
and increasingly struggle to manage the only flat l own that is 
attached to and accessed via my own flat entrance. I have had really 
bad tenants and am reaching the point of not feeling able to go on 
renting emotionally and physically. If these council tax changes come 
into effect l will have to choose between bills l would struggle to pay, 
continuing to rent regardless of my health or selling the whole 
property. 
 
Great care must be taken to ensure the owner is not vulnerable. 
Penalties should be in place for any council staff member who fails to 
exercise due diligence. 
 
I have been trying to sell my house for 3 yrs over this period I have 
reduced the price by 80k in a desperate effort to sell. Some 

Page 64

Agenda Item 7



 

 

understanding from the council for those actively trying to sell would 
help enormously. I do agree those empty houses not for sale should 
have incentives to bring them back into homes. But this blunt 
instrument without some consideration for those of us already 
stressed about when will this house stop eating into my pension may 
just be seen as yet another way of bleed the taxpayer. 
 
Empty properties often fall into disrepair and neglect, and are not 
nice to see.  
 
If not exempt and unwilling to sell or rent out, then the premium 
seems fair.  Perhaps consideration should be given for discretion to 
waive the premium in genuine cases of inability to sell or rent out a 
property. 
 
This is daylight robbery! Sefton council still get paid the council tax 
whether the building is empty or not? It should in fact be reduced for 
empty properties as none of the services are being used if the 
property is empty! Just sheer greed!  
 
I think this is an excellent proposal as homes left empty for that long 
will tend to be neglected damaging the neighbourhood.   
 
There is a housing crisis whilst some of the wealthiest people are 
leaving properties to lay empty and unused, accumulating personal 
wealth at the expense of the majority. I fully support increasing the 
council tax levied.  The only slight disagreement I have is the 
suggestion that this is a doubling of the council tax levied. What it is 
is a removal of a discount in council tax that has previously been 
applied. 
 
Three years would be fairer than two. My property is empty because 
I cannot sell it at a reasonable price due to Brexit uncertainty. It 
remains on the market, but I have had few viewings and fewer offers, 
all well below comparable prices. 
 
As mentioned we are very limited to whom we can rent the property 
to due to the exceptional circumstances related to the "ideal tenant".  
I think this needs to be looked into in much more detail and not just a 
blanket increase which suits all as this is not the case.  If this did 
happen then the cost would be passed onto our service users which I 
do not think is fair. 
 
Most responsible landlords do their best to let properties to suitable 
tenants if a property has been empty as long as ten years it is most 
likely derelict. Taxpayers are disgruntled at paying 50% Premium 
Tax. Can't see collection rates rising if Premium Tax is increased 
excessively. 
 

Outside 
Sefton 

If the home is being advertised for rent, then this should not apply. I 
have a house that is in very good condition (newly refurbished), but 
still we are having trouble finding a tenant. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
Empty retirement flat belonging to my deceased father has been on 
market for 2 years - have reduced price but still no sale - I am paying 
maintenance charges and council tax outside my own area out of my 
savings - whilst I understand basic council tax has to be paid I think it 
is unfair to expect executors to pay an additional premium when 
there is nothing more they can do to sell the property.  
 
As a landlord if we had an empty property we would still have a 
mortgage to pay, and I feel it would be unfair to punish us further. 
 
Fully in agreement if no effort is being made to have the property 
occupied. However, I have had the property in Sefton on the market 
for sale ever since my mother passed away in May 2017. The lease 
does not allow me to let the apartment, and it can only be occupied 
by someone over 50. To charge 200% of the Council Tax seems 
totally unfair when I am doing everything I can to sell it . Surely in 
these circumstances, empty properties should also be exempt.  
 
I most certainly agree considering that Sefton is at present charging 
me 150% rates for an empty flat that I am desperately trying to sell. A 
100% rate would be a relief to this pensioner. 
 
Depends on the circumstances as to why a property is unoccupied. 
An increase is unfair to those who intend to live in the property but 
can't at present due to extensive renovations to make a property 
habitable (council tax deductions with his regard are currently not 
sufficient with respect to the period of availability). Therefore, this 
only extends the period the property is uninhabitable and vacant due 
to unavailable cash flow to do the work. 
 

 

3.5 Summary Table - Questions 1 & 3  

 Agree/Agree 
strongly 

Neither agree / 
disagree 

Disagree / 
Strongly 
disagree 

No response 

Question 1 66 7 55 1 

Question 3 63 9 56 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66

Agenda Item 7



 

 

4. Equality Impact Assessment  

4.1. Introduction  

Any change to function, provision or policy that may have an effect on people is 

automatically subject of the Equality Act 2010. As such the ‘decision makers’ have a 

statutory duty to pay ‘due regard’ to equality legislation and the potential discriminatory 

impact that changes have on service users. To inform decision makers, an ‘equality 

analysis report’ is submitted to them at the time of decision making in order for them to 

consider equality implications as part of their final decision making.  

In order to meet equality legislation public bodies have to consider Section 149 of the 

Equality Act 2010: 

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:- 

(a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b)  Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and person who do not share it. 

4.2 Protected Characteristics 

Equality Law (Equality Act 2010) is clear that there are particular characteristic intrinsic to 

an individual against which it would be easy to discriminate. Section 149 (the Public-

Sector Equality Duty) sits the goals of the Act and the characteristics, known as 

‘protected characteristics’ against which we have to test for discrimination. These 

characteristics are gender, race/ethnicity, religion or belief, sexual orientation, age, 

gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity and disability. 

4.3 Consultation 

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council (Sefton MBC) is considering increasing the Council 

Tax homes premium from April 2019 on homes left empty and substantially unfurnished 

for over 2 years. This will help to reduce the number of long term homes and bring them 

back into use through sale of renting. Any additional income raised from the premium will 

help support the provision of Council services.    

As part of the consultation, equalities questions were asked in connection to gender, 

age, disability and ethnicity.   

The main issues that we have to consider in relation to the proposed changes to the 

scheme in relation to equality and diversity are: 

Disabled people, on very low income, who are unable to carry out the necessary 

renovations to properties themselves or pay someone to do it for them. 

  

Where owners are struggling to cope with managing the property they own.    

 

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



 

 

4.4 Impacts  

The tables below highlight what evidence we have on how the proposed changes will 

affect different groups and communities in relation to equalities and human rights. Where 

numbers are presented which refer to the survey, this relates to the number of people 

who responded to the equality questions in the survey, and aligned to the question on 

impacts. People who responded to the survey and reported any impacts, whether this 

was a lot of impact or no impact, did so from an individual perspective.  The table 

recognises the responses to the survey but also considers any detrimental impact on the 

protected characteristic as a whole and includes the mitigations the Council has in place.   

Breakdown of respondents by Gender 

 

In terms of the 129 respondents to the eConsult Questionnaire 52 females, 40 males, 2 

preferred not to say and 35 not completed returns.  

 

Breakdown of respondents by Age ranges 

 

In terms of the 129 respondents to the eConsult Questionnaire, 94 gave the following 

age ranges, cross matched against gender. 

 

Age Ranges  

  Female Male 
Not 

declared Total 

18-29 2 0 0 2 

30-39 5 2 1 8 

40-49 10 6 0 16 

50-59 13 13 1 27 

60-69 12 11 1 24 

70-79 7 7 1 15 

85+ 2 0 0 2 

 

Breakdown of respondents by Postcode 

 

In terms of the 129 respondents to the eConsult Questionnaire, the following postcodes 

were submitted 

 

Postcode breakdown 

Outside 
Sefton 

L20 L21 L22 L23 L30 

10 10 7 4 17 1 

L31 L37 L38 PR8 PR9 
Not 

Completed  

3 6 2 15 16 38 

 

 

 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Breakdown of respondents by Equality Data 

 

Respondents were asked to indicate answers against Equality data questions, the 

breakdown of which is: 

 

Disability 

4 indicated a Hearing Impairment, 5 indicating a Long-Term Illness Affecting Daily 

Activity, followed by 4 indicating Mental Health/Distress, a further 7 indicating a Physical 

impairment and 2 with a visual impairment.  

 

Ethnicity/ Religion or Belief 

79 of our 129 respondents who answered indicated they were “White British” or “White 

English” in terms of ethnicity, with fewer numbers for the other classifications. 

 

 

 

Sexual Orientation 

On Sexual Orientation, 78 out of 129 respondents who answered indicated they were 

Heterosexual, 2 Bisexual and 49 Prefer not to say / or did not respond 

, 

Heterosexual 78 

Bisexual 2 

Prefer not to say / no response 49 

 

 

Religion / Belief 

42 out of 129 who answered indicated they were Christian, 1 Buddhist, 86 no religion / 

did not respond / prefer not to say.  

 

Gender at birth 

85 of the 129 respondents who answered the question indicated that they currently live in 

the gender given to them at birth.  1 respondent was not in the gender given at birth.  43 

prefer not to say / no response.  

 

 

 

 

Ethnicity - do you identify as… Total 

White British 55 

White English 25 

White Irish 2 

White Polish                                                                             1 

White Welsh 1 

Black British 1 

Asian Indian  1 

Other White background  2 

Other Chinese background   1 

Prefer not to say / no response  40 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



 

 

4.5  Impacts table  

  

Protected  
Characteristic  

 

Gender  No inadvertent bias on the basis of gender is indicated. We 
have not identified any impacts that need mitigation.  

Race/Ethnicity No inadvertent bias on the basis of race/ethnicity is 
indicated. The proposals do not treat people of different 
race/ethnicity groups any differently and we have not 
identified any impacts that need mitigation.  

Religion and 
Belief 

No inadvertent bias on the basis of religion or belief. The 
proposals do not treat persons of different religions or 
beliefs any differently and we have not identified any 
impacts that need mitigation.  

Sexual 
Orientation 

No inadvertent bias on the basis of sexual orientation is 
indicated. The proposals do not treat persons of different 
sexual orientation any differently. We have not identified 
any impacts that need mitigation. 

Age  No inadvertent bias on the basis of age is indicated. Young 
people looking to join the property ladder or rent an 
affordable property may be affected as more empty 
properties are made available. We have not identified any 
impacts that need mitigation. 

Gender 
Reassignment  

No inadvertent bias on the basis of gender reassignment 
age is indicated in the proposals. We have not identified 
any impacts that need mitigation. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity  

No inadvertent bias on the basis of pregnancy and 
maternity is indicated. We have not identified any impacts 
that need mitigation. 

Disability 
 
 

No inadvertent bias on the basis of disability is indicated. 
However, the consultation results indicate that disability is 
also relevant to the proposals as people felt that there 
should be mitigations in place for owners who are unable to 
manage their affairs or circumstances where disability 
prompts a need to change property and reduces the ability 
to carry out the work required to an empty property.    

 

 

4.6 Mitigations   

Key measures in place  

 Consideration to be given to whether any additional exemptions under which the 

Empty Homes Premium should not apply, for example where an owner is living 

elsewhere to receive care or resident in a nursing home etc. 

 Any short term financial hardship or other exceptional circumstances affecting a 

person’s ability to pay will be addressed by the Council’s Discretionary Reduction 

in Liability Policy, and the promotion of that policy, so additional support can be 

provided for those in exceptional need.  

Page 70

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 Sefton MBC will continue to maintain its good track record of providing proactive 

and tailored support for those Council Tax payers who struggle to make payments 

and will continue to ensure our recovery procedures identify cases where 

additional support might be required. 

 A proactive approach will be taken to identify persons meeting the severe mental 

impairment conditions set out in the Council Tax Regulations with a view to 

exempting them from paying Council Tax. 

 We will continue working with and supporting customers whose first language is 

not English. 

 Customers affected by the proposals will be contacted directly and provided with 

clear explanation and offers of advice and support.  

 The Council’s website information will be updated to reflect the key changes and 

any issues identified. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report to: Pay and Grading 
Committee 
 
Council 

Date of Meeting: 14th January 2019 
 
 
24th January 2019 

Subject: Pay Policy 
 

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources 
 

Wards Affected: All 

Cabinet Portfolio:  
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

 No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

 No 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No  

 
Summary: 
 
To recommend a Pay Policy for the Council as required by the Localism Act 2011 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
Pay and Grading Committee: 
 
The proposed Pay Policy at Annex A to this report be recommended to the full Council 
for approval.  
 
Council: 
 
(i) The proposed Pay Policy at Annex A to this report be approved.  
 
(ii) That any amendment to the Pay Policy as necessary before the publication of 

next year’s Pay Policy due to a change in legislation (paras 4 & 5 refer) or due to 
the implementation of the new NJC Pay structure for 1.4.2019, then the Pay and 
Grading Committee be delegated with authority to amend the Pay Policy 
accordingly. 

 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
To comply with the Localism Act 2011 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
 
No alternative, a Pay Policy for the Council as required by the Localism Act 2011 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs  N/A 
 

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 
(B) Capital Costs N/A 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
The Pay Policy has been amended and updated to reflect any changes that have 
occurred since the last report.  Any further changes resulting from the NJC new pay 
structure consultation will be notified in due course. 
 

Legal Implications: 
The Council has the following duties under the  following sections of the Localism Act 
2011 :- 
 
Section 38- The Council must prepare a Pay Policy Statement for each financial year 
which sets out its policies relating to the remuneration of its chief officers and its lowest-
paid employees and the relationship between the remuneration of its chief officers and 
its employees.   
 
Section 39-The Council’s Pay Policy Statement must be approved by resolution of the 
authority before it comes into force and prior to 31st March immediately preceding the 
financial year to which it relates.   
   
Section 40- With regard to its functions under sections 38 and 39 [above] the Council 
must have regard to any guidance issued or approved by the Secretary of State. 
 

Equality Implications: There are no equality implications.  

 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 
A Pay Policy for the Council as required by the Localism Act 2011   
 

Protect the most vulnerable: NA 
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: NA 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: NA 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: NA 
 

Drivers of change and reform: NA 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  NA 
 

Greater income for social investment: NA 
 

Cleaner Greener  NA 
 

Page 74

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5503/18) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer 
 (LD.4628/18) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
The trade Unions have been fully consulted relative to the implementation of the new 
Pay and Grading structure for NJC staff commencing on 1st April 2019 and, at the time of 
writing, are working with the Chief Personnel Officer to agree the implementation and 
assimilation arrangements. 
 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision -Immediately following the Council meeting. 
 
 

Contact Officer: Mark Dale 

Telephone Number: 0151 934 3949 

Email Address: Mark.dale@sefton.gov.uk 

 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 
 
Introduction/Background 

 
1. This report deals with a requirement in the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) which 

became statute in November 2011.  The Act introduced a requirement for Local 
Authorities to agree and publish an Annual Pay Policy Statement effective from 
December 2011.   

 
2. In February 2012 the DCLG issued statutory guidance “Openness and 

Accountability in Local Pay: Guidance under Section 40 of the Localism Act 2011” 
and required Local Authorities in England to take account of the supplementary 
guidance when preparing their Pay Policy Statements. 

 
3. To comply with this requirement the Council’s revised Pay Policy statement is 

attached.  The Pay Policy has substantive changes relative to the pay and grading 
structure for National Joint Council employees following the announcement of the 
pay spine from the NJC for Local Government Services.   The National Joint 
Council advised that all Employers should consider various options and present 
formal proposals around the new pay spine and commence local negotiations with 
a view to reaching agreement. This has been undertaken and the Trade Unions 
are fully versed in the application of the new pay spine and have been provided 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



 

 

with data to measure the impact of the changes, together with equality impact 
assessment (EIA) data.  The new pay spine provides for a minimum salary of 
£17,364 per annum, which, based on the Sefton 36 hour per week standard 
working week equates to a minimum NJC wage of £9.25. 

 
4.  During the summer of 2016 the Government announced a proposal for a 

Regulation entitled “The Repayment of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations”.  
The Government has power to do this under the Small Business, Enterprise and 
Employment Act 2016.  The proposal concerned a situation where an employee 
within the public sector earning £80,000 or more receives an exit payment (such 
as redundancy and assisted payouts) and then returns to any part of the public 
sector within 12 months of leaving.  The legislation will state that on returning to 
the public sector, the employee must repay some or all of the exit payment 
received, even if they return to a much lower salary role or to a different part of the 
public sector.   The regulations were to be advanced to go through Parliamentary 
scrutiny and then to take effect.   
As at July 2018 (the latest update on the Gov.uk website) stipulates that the 
consultation on the proposals has been concluded but that the Government are 
continuing to consider the responses to this consultation.  

  
5. In addition the Government has said it is to introduce The Public Sector Exit 

Payment Regulations 2016 which imposes a cap of £95,000 on exit payments 
made by public bodies.  Payments to employees cannot exceed this amount.  The 
proposals are not yet law and final regulations are awaited.  

 
6 Further, from 5 February to 3 May 2016, HM Treasury consulted on reforms to 

public sector exit payments and on 26 September 2016,the Government 
announced its intention to make further changes to public sector exit payments 
including: a minimum tariff of three weeks' pay per year of service; a cap of up to 
15 months' salary on all redundancy payments; a maximum salary for the 
calculation of exit payments of £80,000; tapering amount of lump sum 
compensation an individual is entitled to receive as they get close to the normal 
pension age of the pension scheme to which they belong. The proposals are not 
yet law and final regulations are awaited.  

 
 
7. As at July 2018 (the latest update on the Gov.uk website) stipulates that the 

consultation on the above proposals has been concluded but that the Government 
are continuing to consider the responses to this consultation.  When, or if, the 
legislation is finalised, the Pay Policy will be updated accordingly and, as 
previously agreed, at the Council meeting on 25th January 2018 the Pay and 
Grading Committee will be delegated from Council to deal with any necessary 
amendment to bring the Authority into compliance with any statutory measure if 
such statutory review comes into place before Council has an opportunity to 
consider next year’s Pay Policy. 

  

Page 76

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 

ANNEX A  
 

PAY POLICY 2019 / 2020 
 

(As required by the Local Government Transparency code 2015 and the Localism 
Act 2011) 

 
 

            Contents 
 

Para(s) 
 
A Opening Statement 

 
1-4 

B Scope of Policy 5 
C Availability of Policy 6 
D Decision Making 7-11 
E Senior Officers Pay 
F Educational Professionals Pay  
G Youth and Community workers 

12-20 
21-27 

28 
H National Joint Council (NJC) Employees 
I NJC Agreement 
J Market Supplements Policy  
K Other pay 
L Pay Protection 
M Pay Relationships 
N Other Terms and Conditions 
O Public Health staff 
P National Minimum wage and Living Wage 
Q Re-employment of staff in receipt of redundancy pay 

29-31 
32- 33 
34-35 
36-41  

42 
43-47 
48-51 

52 
53-56 
57-60 

R          Gender Pay Gap reporting 61-63 
  

Note: Reference is made in this policy to various national and local terms and conditions 
agreements, and policies.  
 
National Pay Agreements within Local Government  
 
1. JNC Chief Executive Terms and Conditions of Service.  

2. JNC Chief Officer Terms and Conditions of Service.  

3. Local Government Pension Scheme:   

4. NJC Terms and Conditions of Service (Green Book): Green book 

5.    Soulbury Terms and Conditions of Service:  (Education & Young People) 

6. Youth and Community Workers Terms and Conditions of Service (Pink Book):      

(Education & Young People)  

7. Non-Standard Working Arrangements and Associated Payments: Non-standard Working 
Arrangements   

 
8. A definition of the term Casual worker is available from the Sefton Council Website 

definition of casual worker 
 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8

http://intranet.smbc.loc/personnel/policies-and-procedures/green-book.aspx
http://intranet.smbc.loc/personnel/policies-and-procedures/pay,-allowances-and-pensions/non-standard-working-arrangements.aspx
http://intranet.smbc.loc/personnel/policies-and-procedures/pay,-allowances-and-pensions/non-standard-working-arrangements.aspx
http://intranet.smbc.loc/personnel/policies-and-procedures/recruitment-and-selection.aspx


 

 

SEFTON COUNCIL PAY POLICY 
 

 
A. OPENING STATEMENT 
 
1. The aim of this policy is to help maintain and improve the quality of service 

provision by ensuring that all employees are valued and receive proper reward for 
their work and contribution.  It also serves to satisfy the requirements of the 
Localism Act 2011 relative to pay accountability. 

 
2. It is recognised that both financial and non-financial rewards are necessary to 

attract, retain and motivate employees.  As such there needs to be a close link 
between reward and the overall approach to people management, including 
workforce planning and development strategies.  There needs to be a fair balance 
between changing organisational needs and the aspirations of individuals.  
Equally there needs to be recognition of the financial constraints of the current 
economic climate and the imperative to manage public monies responsibly. 

 
3. This policy will assist in managing pay and other rewards in a fair, equitable, 

responsible and transparent manner.  The Council supports the principle of 
equality of opportunity in employment.  In this regard every endeavour will be 
made to ensure that employees receive equal treatment, irrespective of their age, 
gender, race, colour ethnic origin, family commitments, marital status, sexual 
orientation, disability or religious beliefs. 

 
4. All pay related decisions will be taken in compliance with the provisions of The 

Equality Act 2010, The Employment Rights Act 1996, The Employment Relations 
Act 1999, the Employment Act 2002, The Employment Act 2008, The Part-Time 
Workers (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, The Fixed 
Term Employees’ (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2002, 
all as amended. 

 
B. SCOPE OF POLICY 
 
5. This policy covers all employees other than those in schools. 
 
C. AVAILABILITY OF POLICY 
 
6. This policy is available on the Sefton’s Council website under Pay Policy  
 
D. DECISION MAKING 
 
7. The pay policy is the responsibility of the Pay & Grading Committee with any 

recommendations for change being subject to the approval of the Council. 
 
8. The policy will be reviewed by the Committee at least once every municipal year 

and referred to the Council for consideration prior to the beginning of the 
subsequent municipal year on 1st April.   

 

Page 78

Agenda Item 8

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/open-data,-transparency-and-foi/transparency.aspx


 

 

9. The authority to make decisions in accordance with the policy (i.e. its application) 
is in accordance with the delegations described in the Council’s constitution, 
which can be found in the documents library on Sefton’s website. 

 
10. In January 2013 Council agreed a mechanism specifically for; 
 

o The consideration of severance packages which amount to £100,000 or 

above,  and 

 
o The consideration of new appointments which have a remuneration 

package of £100,000 or above.  

 
It was agreed that: 

  
o In relation to any severance packages in respect of the Chief Executive, 

Executive Directors and Heads of Service which amount to £100,000 or 

above, that Full Council are given an opportunity to vote to determine 

agreement, following a recommendation from the Pay and Grading 

Committee.   

 
o All other employees’ severance packages of £100,000 or above are to be 

determined by the Pay and Grading Committee and may come before Full 

Council as part of the Budget process.  The reason for utilising the Pay and 

Grading Committee is to allow operational effectiveness in seeking the 

approval of such payments, leaving Full Council to deal with severance 

packages for the Senior Officer positions.   

 

o In respect of the definition of a severance payment this is defined as: 

 
(a) A redundancy payment 
(b) Any capital cost to the pension fund 
(c) Any other contractual payments which are due to the employee 
(d) Any other payments which the Local Authority may seek to make 

  
o The Employment Procedure Committee will decide on the remuneration 

packages for Senior Officer in cases where the proposed remuneration is 

over £100,000.  This will be debated at the point when the decision to fill 

the post is made.   A recommendation will then be made to the Full Council 

who will have the opportunity to vote on the remuneration proposed.  The 

remuneration must be agreed prior to an appointment offer being made.  

 
11. It is proposed that the decision making processes for severance and remuneration 

detailed in the paragraphs above remain in force. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



 

 

E. SENIOR OFFICERS PAY   
 
12. Senior officers are defined as those currently earning £50,000 and above. The 

£50,000 threshold is applied as per the Local Government transparency code 
issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government  [CLG]. 

 
13. Individual Senior Management pay is set out in data published on the Council’s 

website in accordance with the Local Government transparency code.  It provides 
details of; 

 
o the number of employees whose remuneration in that year was at least 

£50,000 -  in brackets of £5,000  

 
o details of the job title of senior employees whose salary is at least £50,000, 

and  

 

o identification by name of any employees whose salaries are £150,000 or 

more.  

 

o the information is not solely based on salary but will include all remuneration 

i.e. overtime pay. 

 
Senior Officer Pay data can be accessed through the Sefton Council website under: 
Personnel / Job Evaluation/ Senior Salaries   

 

14.  In addition, local authorities must provide a list of responsibilities (for example, the 
services and functions the postholder is responsible for and details of bonuses 
and ‘benefits-in-kind’, for all employees whose salary exceeds £50,000. 

 
15. Senior officers (other than those paid under the Soulbury agreement) are paid in 

accordance with the HAY job evaluation method.    
 
16. Chief Executive Salary – this comprises of 5 incremental points within a salary 

band ranging from £144154 - £158575. 
 

NOTE: The current Chief Executive is on the maximum of the grade but since 
February 2011 has volunteered a 10% reduction in salary.  The actual salary 
payable as at 1.4.2018 is £142,716 p.a.   

 

17. As at 1.4.2018 Executive Directors and the Director of Social Care and Health are 

paid at HAY 1 (£114,453 plus a Market Supplement as appropriate.  Heads of 

Service are paid at either HAY 2 (£95,952), HAY 3 (£83,580) or HAY 4 (£73,620) 

as spot grades, plus a Market Supplement if appropriate.  Senior Management are 

paid relative to Hay grades 5 & 6.  Hay 5 ranging from £60,747 - £66,819 by 5 

increments.  Hay 6 ranges from £47,613 -  £55,119 by 7 increments.  

18. The terms and conditions for the post of Chief Executive are in accordance with 
the Joint National Council (JNC) Scheme for Chief Executives.  In the case of 

Page 80

Agenda Item 8

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/open-data,-transparency-and-foi/transparency.aspx


 

 

HAY Grades 1 - 5 the terms and conditions are as per the JNC Scheme for Chief 
Officers. In the case of HAY Grade 6 the terms and conditions are in accordance 
with the National Joint Council (NJC) Scheme for Local Government services 
employees (known as the “Green Book”). 

 
19. HAY grades are allocated to posts using the HAY job evaluation system.  This 

system enables the factors of a job to be analysed and translated into a points 
score which, in turn, is related to the appropriate grade associated with the score.   

 
20. Each year the HAY group are consulted as to what is an appropriate pay rise.   

The HAY Group advise based on predicted awards in the general market (Public 
and Private Sector), the amount of inflation, and the Retail Prices Index.  This is 
also balanced against the National Joint Council Pay award and the ability of the 
Council to meet the pay bill. The pay rise to be applied is delegated to the Chief 
Executive and the Chief Personnel Officer.  

 
 
F. EDUCATION PROFESSIONALS PAY [Soulbury Agreement]) 
 
21. The Soulbury Committee provides national collective bargaining machinery for 

advisory staff in Local Authorities.  Nationally it covers staff including: education 
improvement professionals, education psychologists, and young 
people’s/community service managers.  In addition to any annual pay increase, 
the Soulbury Committee also determines the national salary framework. 

 
22. The Soulbury agreement provides separate sets of pay spines for Education 

Improvement Professionals (EIPs), Educational Psychologists, including 
Principals, Seniors, Assistants and Trainees as well as Community Service 
Managers.  The current pay agreement covers pay spines payable from 1st 
September 2018.  The pay spines currently payable from 1.9.2018 are detailed 
below; 

 
 

Education Improvement Professionals (EIPs) 
 
 

Spine Point Salary from 
1.9.2018 

Ranges from 
spine point 1  
   

£34,749 

To spine point 
50 

£91,972 

 
  
23. The Education Improvement Professionals (EIPs) salary scales consist of not 

more than four consecutive points, based on the duties and responsibilities of the 
posts and the need to recruit and motivate staff.  Minimum starting points are 
defined in the pay conditions for Senior and Principal EIPs and include an 
extended range to accommodate structured professional assessments. 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



 

 

  
           EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGISTS   
 

Spine Point Salary from 
1.9.2018 

Ranges from 
spine point 1 

£36,446  

To spine point 
11  

£53,961  

 
24. The salary scales consist of four consecutive points, based on the duties and 

responsibilities of the posts and the need to recruit, retain and motivate staff and 
include extension to scale to accommodate structured professional assessment 
points. 

 
          SENIOR & PRINCIPAL EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGISTS  
 

Spine Point Salary from 
1.9.2018 

Ranges from 
spine point 1 

£46,693  

To spine 
point 18  

£67,602  

 
 
 
25. The Salary scales consist of not more four consecutive points, based on the 

duties and responsibilities of the posts and the need to recruit, retain and motivate 
staff and include an extension to range to accommodate discretionary scale points 
and structured professional assessments. 

 
 

TRAINEE EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGISTS  
 

Spine Point Salary from 
1.9.2018 

Ranges 
from spine 

point 1 

£23,415 

To spine 
point 6 

£31,983 

 

ASSISTANT EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGISTS  

 

Spine Point Salary from 
1.9.2018 

Ranges 
from spine 

£28,783 

Page 82

Agenda Item 8



 

 

point 1 

To spine 
point 4 

£32,303 

 
COMMUNITY SERVICE MANAGERS 

 

Spine Point Salary from 
1.9.2018 

Ranges 
from spine 

point 1 

£36,040 

To spine 
point 24 

£63,438 

 
26. The Salary scales consist of not more four consecutive points, based on the 

duties and responsibilities of the posts and the need to recruit, retain and motivate 
staff and include an extension to range to accommodate discretionary scale points 
and structured professional assessments. 

 
27. The Soulbury agreement does not set its own specific conditions of service.    

Instead it provides that: 
 

“The conditions of service of Soulbury officers shall be not less favourable than 
those prescribed for the local government services staff of the authority” 

 
G. Youth and Community Workers  
 
28. The pay of Youth and Community Workers is determined from pay points 

prescribed by the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC). There are two ranges of 
pay points, one for Youth and Community Support Workers and one for 
Professional staff.  

 
Youth and Community Support Workers 

 

Spine Point Salary from 
1.9.2018 

Ranges 
from spine 

point 2 

£16,757 

To spine 
point 17 

£27,468 

 
 Professional staff 
 

Spine Point Salary from 
1.9.2018 

Ranges 
from spine 

point 13 

£24,153 

To spine £40,760 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



 

 

point 32 

 
 
H.  NATIONAL JOINT COUNCIL (NJC) EMPLOYEES 
 
29. The largest proportion of employees are paid in accordance with the NJC (Green 

Book) terms and conditions of employment and in conjunction with a locally 
determined grading structure that is derived from the spinal column points (SCPs) 
provided by the NJC for Local Government Services pay scales.  It is influenced 
by market values and is ‘shaped’ to reward employees fairly relative to job 
requirements. 

 
30. Grades are allocated to posts using the Local Government Single Status Job 

Evaluation Scheme which forms part of the NJC (Green Book) terms and 
conditions of employment.  

 
31. The grading structure and the arrangements for applying the job evaluation 

scheme are agreed with the local trade unions.   
 
I. NJC PAY AGREEMENT 
 
32. The NJC pay agreement for 2018 – 2020 introduces a new pay spine effective 

from 1.4.2019.  The new pay spine has been introduced to bring the lowest spinal 
column point to £9.00 per hour based on a 37 hour week which equates to £9.25 
for Sefton’s councils 36 hour per week standard working. The National guidance 
provided options for assimilating staff to the new pay spine and this matter 
together with the options for implementation arrangements for the new pay spine 
are, at the time of writing, being  discussed with the trade Unions and discussions 
are constructive.   The  Trade unions have been provided with Equality impact 
assessment data relative to the employees covered by the NJC agreement.   

 
33. The new National NJC pay spine is as detailed below.  The Pay policy document 

is agreed by 1st April each year and the only meeting of Council prior to 1st April 
deadline is 28th January 2019 which meant that this paper needed to be in 
circulation whilst consultation with the Trade Unions was  ongoing.  The agreed 
NJC new pay structure to be applied will be notified in due course. 

  

SCP Annual 
Salary 

1 £17,364 

2 £17,711 

3 £18,065 

4 £18,426 

5 £18,795 

6 £19,171 

7 £19,554 

8 £19,945 

Page 84

Agenda Item 8



 

 

9 £20,344 

10 £20,751 

11 £21,166 

12 £21,589 

13 £22,021 

14 £22,462 

15 £22,911 

16 £23,369 

17 £23,836 

18 £24,313 

19 £24,799 

20 £25,295 

21 £25,801 

22 £26,317 

23 £26,999 

24 £27,905 

25 £28,785 

26 £29,636 

27 £30,507 

28 £31,371 

29 £32,029 

30 £32,878 

31 £33,799 

32 £34,788 

33 £35,934 

34 £36,876 

35 £37,849 

36 £38,813 

37 £39,782 

38 £40,760 

39 £41,675 

40 £42,683 

41 £43,662 

42 £44,632 

43 £45,591 

43 £45,591 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



 

 

J. MARKET SUPPLEMENTS POLICY 
 
34. The Council aims to recruit and retain the best possible employees with the skills, 

knowledge and experience needed to deliver excellent services and to meet its 
corporate objectives.  There may be times when the grading of a post results in an 
inability to successfully recruit or retain to particular posts. In such cases it may be 
appropriate to pay a market supplement in addition to the salary to ensure that 
appointments can be secured.  In these circumstances, the potential for the 
application of a Market Supplement Rate will need to be objectively justified.   
Such payments are lawful under the Equality Act 2010 where there is evidence to 
justify that market factors are the “material factor” for the post attracting a higher 
rate of pay than other posts with the same score.  In order to establish equality of 
pay the Council needs factual evidence to prove that paying any Market 
Supplement Rate is “a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim”. 

 
35. Any business cases made for Market Supplement payments will be subject to  

investigation and scrutiny by the Pay and Grading team followed by formal 
approval via the Head of Corporate Resources.  Thereafter, the payments will be 
subject to annual review, and supplementary reviews following any pay award 
agreements or incremental advancement.    In addition, the Joint Trade Union 
forum will be provided with details of any positions which have been approved for 
the Market Supplement Payments.  

 
K. OTHER PAY 
 
36. Returning officer The Council has to appoint a Returning Officer for elections.  

This is usually a senior officer of the Council who performs the role in addition to 
his/her normal duties.  Appointment as a Returning Officer is deemed to be 
separate remunerable employment.   

 
37. Acting up payments Employees are not eligible for honoraria payments under 

current Council policy.  However, an employee who, following a fair selection 
arrangement, performs the full duties and responsibilities of a higher graded post 
on a temporary basis, will be paid in accordance with the higher graded post for 
the specified period and without any commitment to permanency in that post.  
This is known as “Acting Up”.  It is an operationally practical arrangement applied 
throughout the workforce.  It is an expedient measure that should maintain for as 
short a period as possible – normally less than 12 months. 

 
38. Advisory Staff in Local Authorities – [Soulbury Agreement] In each of the 

separate Soulbury pay spines there is provision for employees to receive up to 
three further spine points under the Structure Professional Assessment (SPA) 
system.  This element of the pay structure is based on performance assessment 
and forms part of the overall pay structure.  Progression under the SPA system is 
subject to local assessment against nationally prescribed criteria. 

  
39. NJC Employees- Non-Standard Working Arrangements and Associated 

Payments   
 

In accordance with the NJC provisions the Council pays allowances in respect of 
employees who are required to work outside “normal” working hours.   

 

Page 86

Agenda Item 8



 

 

40. In February 2011 Cabinet approved a package of terms and conditions changes 
following consultation with the trade unions. The changes were implemented with 
effect from 1st April 2011, initially for two years, and have since been adopted as 
an ongoing contractual arrangement to assist with the budget savings.   

 
41. Tupe Pay obligations 
 

The Council has a number of staff on Personal salaries stemming from staff 
transferring into the organisation via TUPE regulations.  In due course, as and 
when reviews are conducted the Council will look to transfer employees onto 
Sefton’s Grading structure and Sefton Terms and Conditions.   

 
L. PAY PROTECTION 
 
42. In certain circumstances where employees suffer a loss in basic pay as a result of 

the actions of the employer, 12 months’ pay protection is available. 
 
 
 
M. PAY RELATIONSHIPS 
 
43. The Local Government Transparency Code 2015 Part 2.2 para 51 and Section 38 of 

the Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to produce information relative to 
pay dispersion i.e. the relationship between remuneration of Senior Officers and 
the remuneration of other staff. The information in this section illustrates the 
Councils pay dispersion.   

 
44. The highest level of (full time equivalent – FTE) employee remuneration in the 

Council is associated with the post of Chief Executive which is £142,716. 
  
45. The lowest level of (FTE) employee remuneration is £16,394.00 p.a .   
 

46. The median level of actual basic pay for central staff is £18,672.00 p.a.  The 

median level of actual pay including contractual allowances (e.g. overtime, shift 

pay etc) is £20,541.00 p.a. 

The ratio listed compares favourably with the Upper 20:1 ratio as detailed in the 

Hutton Fair Pay Review Report. As at November 2018 the (FTE) actual pay 

relationships are:   

o Highest pay is 8.70 times greater than lowest pay. 

o Median basic pay is 1.14 times greater than lowest pay. 

o Median pay including contractual allowances is 1.25 times greater than 

lowest pay. 

o Highest pay is 7.64 times greater than median basic pay and 6.95 times 

greater than median pay including contractual allowances. 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



 

 

47. In order to achieve this calculation the pay relationships have been based on the 

lowest level of employee remuneration (using actual pay figures of centrally 

employed staff payable as at November 2018 and the highest level JNC pay 

applicable as at November 2018.   The above pay relationship figures exclude a 

small amount of staff who TUPE transferred from Arvarto and under the TUPE 

regulations currently retain their Arvarto Terms and Conditions of service.   

 
N. OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
48. The normal working week is 36 hours (FTE).  This is on the understanding that for 

those staff defined as senior officers, additional hours will be worked, as 
necessary, without financial or time off recompense.   

 
49. The Council recognises the importance of the need to balance personal and 

working demands.  Employees are required to be receptive to such needs both in 
their own case and relative to those for whom they may be responsible.  It is 
considered that an empathetic management approach to controlled attendance 
will contribute to high performance and outcomes. 

 
50. The Council’s terms and conditions of employment generally provide for 27 days 

leave for employees with less than 5 years’ service and 32 days after 5 years 
have been completed (35 days for HAY 5 and above).  The Council also 
recognises long service by granting an additional 5 days leave (as a one off 
award) after 25 years’ service has been completed and celebrates longer periods 
of service. 

 
51. The Council also supports officers in the discharge of their duties by reimbursing 

expenditure, paying subsistence allowances, and operating a Corporate travel 
scheme for eligible employees offering reduced cost rail travel with deductions 
being made direct from payroll.  

 
O. PUBLIC HEALTH STAFF  
 
52. The transfer of the Public Health function and its associated employees in 2013 

was on a statutory basis as per the Health and Social Care Act 2012.   The pay 
scales applicable at the point of transfer were as per Public Health NHS pay 
scales and will remain static until such time as the positions become vacant.  New 
appointments to posts within the Public Health function are made on either NJC or 
JNC HAY grades as appropriate to the role.  

 
P. NATIONAL MINIMUM WAGE / NATIONAL LIVING WAGE/LIVING WAGE  

53. The National Minimum Wage (NMW) is the minimum pay per hour most workers 
under the age of 25 are entitled to by law. 

The Government's National Living Wage (NLW) is the minimum pay per hour 

most workers aged 25 and over are entitled to by law. 

The rate will depend on a worker's age and if they are an apprentice. 

Current rate as at 1.4.2018  
Page 88

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 £7.83 per hour for ages 25 and over 

 £7.38 per hour for ages 21 to 24 

 £5.90 per hour for ages 18 to 20 

 £4.20 per hour for under 18 years old 

54. In addition to the above there is a living wage determined by the Real Living Wage 
Foundation. The rate is £9.00 per hour (outside of London) as at November 2018.    
This Real Living wage rate is based on the concept that a certain amount of money 
is needed to ensure that people are able to have a decent standard of living.  The 
Real living wage is different from the National Minimum wage and the Governments 
National Living Wage.   Adoption of the Minimum wage is a legal requirement 
however the adoption of the Real Living Wage is voluntary.   To become a true Real 
Living Wage employer the rate would need to be applied not only to employees but 
also be extended to Third party contractors who are defined by the Living Wage 
Foundation as those who work regularly on Council premises, or premises necessary to 

the work being carried out, for 2 or more hours a day, in any day of the week, for 8 or more 
consecutive weeks of the year.     

 
55. The Cabinet member has been provided with information relative to the 

implementation of the Real Living wage for both schools and the Council. No 
determination has yet been made in terms of whether Sefton Council would wish to 
be a Real Living Wage employer.  

 
56. Real living wage rates updated in November each year whilst the National Joint 

Council (NJC), rates for which the majority of Council employees are paid, are 
updated in April.   Consequently, with effect from 1.4.2019 the Council will be paying 
wage rates in keeping with the Real living wage but this will always be subject to the 
Living wage rate percentage increase applied in November as indicated below; 

 
 November 2018  Real living wage     = £9.00  
 April 2019  Sefton NJC lowest rate   = £9.25   
 November 2019 Real living wage if 2.5% increase applied = £9.22 or 
 November 2019 Real living wage if 3% increase applied = £9.27 
 
 
Q. RE-EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF WHO HAVE BEEN IN RECEIPT OF 

REDUNDANCY PAY AND/OR PENSION.     
 
57.     Subject to compliance with legislative/regulatory requirements: 
 

 An individual may be in receipt of a pension (LGPS or otherwise) in 

addition to remuneration from their employment with the Council. 

 

 An individual who has left the Council and been in receipt of a severance or 

redundancy payment and/or pension (LGPS or otherwise) may 

subsequently be re-employed or engaged under a contract for services. 

 
58.     In line with this, staff who have been in receipt of redundancy pay and or pension 

benefits can subsequently be re-employed or engaged under a contract with 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Sefton. However, given the budgetary pressures currently facing the Council such 
cases must satisfy robust justification.   

 
59. All Local Government Pension Schemes (LGPS) Administrating Funds have the 

discretion to abate pension upon re-employment to local government. Merseyside 
Pension Fund discretion stipulates that anyone in receipt of a pension from 
the  LGPS, re-employed after 25 September 2006, will not have their pension 
adjusted if they return to local government employment, unless they were granted 
Compensatory Added Years when they retired due to redundancy/ interest of 
efficiency.  

 
60. Pensioners re-employed before 25 September 2006 or those who received 

Compensatory Added Years of membership may have adjustments applied to 
their pension by the Administrating Fund.   

  
With regard to paragraphs 59 and 60 Merseyside Pension Fund have confirmed 
that this discretion still applies.  However, the members awarded added years will 
now be of an age (youngest 65 years of age) where it would be highly unlikely that 
they would be re-employed.   

 
R. GENDER PAY GAP REPORTING  

61. The Council is required by law to carry out Gender Pay Reporting under the 
Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017 and to publish 
the results on both the Council website and a government website. In line with 
these requirements data was published as at the defined snapshot date of 5 April 
2017.  The data will be updated and published each year.     

62. The data required relates to information showing the difference between the 
average earnings of male and female employees but does not involve publishing 
individual employee data.  The pay calculations are based on gross pay 
calculated before deductions at source.  Pay data includes basic pay, paid leave, 
allowances, and shift pay but not overtime pay, expenses, redundancy or any 
other termination pay.  

63. Gender Pay Reporting information will be established each year by using our 
existing HR and payroll records and relate to centrally employed staff only and 
does not include Schools data as only employers with over 250 employees are 
covered by the legislation. 

 
 
 
 
  
 

 

 

 

Page 90

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Report to: Cabinet  
 
Council 
 

Date of Meeting: 10 January 2019 
 
24 January 2019 

Subject: Making the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans 
 

Report of: Chief Planning 
Officer   
 

Wards Affected: Molyneux; Park; 
Sudell 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Planning and Building Control   
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No  
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 
 

 
Summary: 
 
Neighbourhood Plans can be prepared by the local community to guide development in 
their local area. Once they have been submitted to the Council, the Local Planning 
Authority has a legal duty to arrange an independent examination of the submitted Plan 
to make sure it meets the ‘basic conditions’ and determine whether it can go to 
referendum. 
 
Following examination, the respective Examiners have recommended that both the 
Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans can proceed to referendum. These were held 
on 18th December 2018.  As long as a simple majority of those who vote (50% + 1) in 
each parish vote in favour of their respective Plans (i.e. agree with the proposals in their 
respective Plan) being approved, the Council has a legal duty to ‘make’ (i.e. adopt) the 
Neighbourhood Plans as part of the Development Plan for Sefton.   
 
The purpose of this report is to seek the Council’s formal approval to ‘make’ the Lydiate 
and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans part of the statutory Development Plan for Sefton as 
required by the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Localism Act 2011.  This 
will mean that the plans will be used to determine planning applications in Lydiate and 
Maghull Parishes in addition to the Local Plan. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
Cabinet notes that the Lydiate and Maghull NPs were passed at referendum and that 
they will now proceed to Council to be ‘made’. 
 
Council ‘make’ the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans part of the Development 
Plan for Sefton.  
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendation(s): 
 
The preparation of the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans have followed the 
statutory procedures set out in The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 

Page 91

Agenda Item 9



 

 

(as amended).  The plans have successfully undergone examination, have satisfied the 
basic conditions and are in conformity with the Sefton Local Plan.  Where a Referendum 
results in a majority ‘yes’ vote, the Local Planning Authority is required to ‘make’ the 
Neighbourhood Plan within 8 weeks of the referendum decision in accordance with 
Regulations.  This will enable the Council to use the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood 
Plans to determine planning applications in the respective parishes. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications) 
 
As set out in the various Neighbourhood Planning Regulations, the referendum and 
subsequent ‘making’ of Neighbourhood Plans following a successful referendum is part 
of the legal process for a community (Neighbourhood Forum or Town or Parish Council) 
to make a Neighbourhood Plan for its area.  As such Sefton Council does not have any 
option other than to make the plans. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
Sefton Council is required to pay for the referendum. However, it can claim a fixed sum 
towards the costs of supporting the preparation of each Neighbourhood Plan and holding 
the referendum from the Department of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(DHCLG).  Implementation of the Neighbourhood Plans will be covered by general 
staffing costs. 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
 
None. 
 
Implications of the Proposals: 
 

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
Once ‘made’ implementing both plans will be covered by general staff costs. 
 

Legal Implications: 
The referendum is part of a legal process and the outcome has to be complied with. 
 

Equality Implications: 
There are no equality implications. 
 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: 
N/A 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
The preparation of the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans establish the 
respective communities’ aspirations for how its area should be developed in the future. 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
N/A 

Place – leadership and influencer: 

Page 92

Agenda Item 9



 

 

N/A 

Drivers of change and reform: 
N/A 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: 
N/A 

Greater income for social investment:  
N/A 

Cleaner Greener 
The Maghull Neighbourhood Plan contains policies that seek to provide infrastructure, 
regenerate Maghull District Centre, protect and enhance properties named on the 
Maghull Local List, protect and enhance the residential character of Maghull, protect 
and enhance green corridors and support development on Land East of Maghull in line 
with the approved Master Plan.  The Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan contains policies that 
seek to protect and enhance non-designated heritage and cultural assets and protect 
and enhance footpaths, cycleways, canal towpaths and bridle paths. 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
(A) Internal Consultations 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5473/18) has been consulted and notes there are 
no direct financial implications for the Council. The costs of holding the two referendums 
can be covered by Grant receipt from DHCLG.  The implementation of the 
Neighbourhood Plans can be met from existing budget. 
The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4598/18) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report. 
 
(B) External Consultations  
 
Consultation, carried out by Lydiate Parish Council and Maghull Town Council, took 
place at various times during the preparation of their respective Neighbourhood Plans, as 
required by the Neighbourhood Regulations and national Planning Practice Guidance.  In 
accordance with the Plan Regulations, Sefton Council also consulted on the 
Neighbourhood Plans following submission of the Neighbourhood Plans by each Council. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
Following the Council Meeting on 24 January 2019. 
 

Contact Officer: Alison Jones, Ian Loughlin   

Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3898, 0151 934 3558 

Email Address: alison.jones@sefton.gov.uk, ian.loughlin@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: 
 
There are no appendices to this report 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None  

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



 

 

1.   Introduction 
 
1.1 The Localism Act 2011 gives local communities the right to prepare a 

Neighbourhood Plan to develop a shared vision for their neighbourhood and 
shape the development and growth of their local area.  The Council has a 
statutory duty to support this activity. 

 
1.2 The process for preparing a Neighbourhood Plan is set out by the Neighbourhood 

Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (‘The Regulations’) is subject 
to several key stages which include:   

 
1. Designation of the neighbourhood plan area; 
2. Pre-submission publicity and consultation; 
3. Submission of the plan to the Local Planning Authority; 
4. Consultation by the Local Planning Authority; 
5. Independent Examination; 
6. Referendum; and 
7. Making the Neighbourhood Plan (i.e. bringing it into force). 

 
1.3 Policies in Neighbourhood Plans are used when determining planning 

applications.  It is a requirement that a Neighbourhood Plan contain policies which 
are broadly in accordance with the strategic policies in the Local Plan.  If 
Neighbourhood Plan policies conflict with policies in the Local Plan, the policies in 
the Plan that was approved most recently take precedence.  

 
2. Plan preparation 
 
2.1. Application for the designation of Lydiate Parish and Maghull Parish (with a small 

‘land swap’ agreed with Melling Parish Council) as Neighbourhood Plan Areas 
were submitted in 2015.  Following statutory publicity, the Neighbourhood Plan 
Areas were approved by Sefton Council on 28 September 2015 (Lydiate) and 5 
February 2015 (Maghull). 

 
2.2. Lydiate Parish Council and Maghull Town Council have each completed a number 

of tasks that are required to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan.  These included the 
preparation and gathering of evidence and undertaking various consultation 
exercises before drawing up a draft version of the plan, known as the Pre-
submission Plan. The Pre-Submission Plans underwent consultation (under 
Regulation 14 of the Regulations) from 1 December 2017 to 9 March 2018 
(Lydiate) and 29 July 2017 to 9 October 2017 (Maghull). 

 
2.3. The Pre-Submission Plans were amended as appropriate in response to the 

comments made and both Plans were formally submitted to the Council.  Sefton 
Council consulted on the Submission Versions of both Plans in accordance with 
Regulation 16 of the Regulations between 13th June 2018 and 30th July 2018. 

 
2.4. Both plans and supporting documents were then sent to the Council’s retained 

independent examiners Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd.  Sefton 
appointed Andrew S Freeman in agreement with Lydiate Parish Council to 
examine the Lydiate Plan and Patrick T Whitehead in agreement with Maghull 
Town Council to examine the Maghull Plan.  The purpose of an Examination is to 

Page 94

Agenda Item 9

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/directory_record/607/si_2012_637_-_the_neighbourhood_planning_general_regulations_2012
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/directory_record/607/si_2012_637_-_the_neighbourhood_planning_general_regulations_2012


 

 

determine whether a Plan meets the ‘Basic Conditions’ and other legislative 
requirements and therefore should proceed to referendum. 

 
2.5. The Examiner’s Report for the Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan was formally received 

on 18 September 2018.  The Examiner’s Report for the Maghull Neighbourhood 
Plan was formally received on 22 October 2018.  Both Examiners’ Reports 
concluded that, subject to modification, Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans 
may proceed to Referendum on the basis that they meet all the relevant legal 
requirements.   

 
2.6. The Referendum Version of the Maghull Neighbourhood Plan together with its 

supporting Residential Character Assessment and the Referendum Version of the 
Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan together with its supporting Character Assessment 
are available online.  Other ‘specified documents’ that are required by the 
Regulations for both referendums are also on the website at 
www.sefton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning and include: 

 

 Regulation 16 Consultation summary of Comments made 

 A decision statement confirming the Plan complies with the Regulations, 
setting out the stages of preparation and the decision and reasons for 
accepting the modifications proposed by the Examiner. 

 
2.7. The decision for the Lydiate Plan to proceed to Referendum was made by the 

Cabinet Member: Planning and Building Control on 1 November 2018.  The 
decision for the Maghull Plan to proceed to Referendum was made by the Cabinet 
Member: Planning and Building Control on 5 November 2018. 

 
3. Referendum outcome  

 
3.1. The referendums for both plans were held on 18th December 2018.  The purpose 

of the referendum is to confirm that the local community (people on the electoral 
roll living in Maghull and Lydiate parishes) agree with the proposals in their 
respective Plan.  A simple majority (50% + 1) voting ‘Yes’ requires Sefton to 
‘make’ (i.e. adopt) the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
3.2. The rules covering all aspects of organising and conducting the polls can be found 

in the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 (as amended by 
the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 and 
2014) and the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.  

 
3.3. The results were declared as follows (further details are available by following the 

links): 
 

 Lydiate – votes ‘yes’ 715; votes ‘no’ 108 – 86.77% in favour (turnout 16.36%) 

 Maghull- votes ‘yes’ 2,253; votes ‘no’ 369 – 85.73% in favour (turnout 16.04%) 
 
4.  Next steps 
 
4.1 As a result of the Referendum, the Council is required, in accordance with 

legislation to formally ‘make’ both the Lydiate and the Maghull Neighbourhood 
Plans as over 50% of those who voted were in favour of the Plans.  This will allow 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488550/3-Lydiate-Neighbourhood-Plan-Examiners-Report-180918.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488566/3-Maghull-NP-Examiners-Report-221018.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488566/3-Maghull-NP-Examiners-Report-221018.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488578/1-Maghull-N-P-Referendum-Version.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488581/2-Maghull-Residential-Character-Assessment.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488541/1-Lydiate-N-P_Referendum_Version_.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488541/1-Lydiate-N-P_Referendum_Version_.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488547/2-Lydiate-Character-Assessment.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1488547/2-Lydiate-Character-Assessment.pdf
http://www.sefton.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=10641
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=10642
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111525050/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2013/9780111534984/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2030/contents/made
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1504033/Declaration-of-Result_Lydiate.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1504029/Declaration-of-Result_Maghull.pdf


 

 

the Plans to be given full weight in determining planning applications within the 
Parishes of Lydiate and Maghull respectively. 

 
4.2 The Council is required to ‘make’ the plans within 8 weeks of the Referendum in 

accordance with the Regulation 18A of the Regulations. 
 

Page 96

Agenda Item 9



 

 

Report to: Cabinet  
 
Council 

Date of Meeting: 6 December 2018 
 
24 January 2019 
 

Subject: Programme of Meetings – 2019/20 Municipal Year 
 

Report of: Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer   
 

Wards Affected: (All Wards); 

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services   
 

Is this a Key 
Decision: 

No Included in 
Forward Plan: 

No 
 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report: 

No 
 

 

Purpose/Summary 
 
To seek approval of a Programme of Meetings for the 2019/20 Municipal Year. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet 
 
That the Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet, Public Engagement and Consultation 
Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing Board for 
2019/20 as set out in Annexes A and D of the report be approved. 
 
Council 
 
That 
 
1. the Programme of Meetings for the Council, Member Briefing Sessions; 

Regulatory Committees; and Overview and Scrutiny Committees for 2019/20 as 
set out in Annexes B and C of the report be approved; and 

 
2. the Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet, Public Engagement and Consultation 

Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing 
Board for 2019/20 as set out in Annexes A and D of the report be noted. 

 
Reasons for the Recommendation: 
 
To enable the business of the Council and its various Committees/bodies to be 
conducted during the 2019/20 Municipal Year. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 
None. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 
(B) Capital Costs 
 
None. 
 
Implications: 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 

Legal 
 

Human Resources 
 

Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 

 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose 
 

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable 
 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable 
 

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable 
 

Place – leadership and influencer: The Programme of Meetings for 2019/20 will be 
published on the Council’s website for the benefit of the residents of Sefton and the 
wider general public.  This will raise awareness of the Council’s political management 
system and allow the opportunity for the public to engage in the Council’s democratic 
processes. 
 

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable 
 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable 
 

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable  
 

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable 
 

 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5451/18) has been consulted and notes there are 
no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

 

 

Page 98

Agenda Item 10



 

 

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD 4576/18) is the author of this report. 
 
The Chief Executive, the Head of Communities, the Head of Health and Wellbeing, the 
Chief Planning Officer and the Head of Corporate Resources have been consulted.  
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? 
 
No.  The Council has to produce a timetable of meetings. 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 
In respect of the Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet, Public Engagement and 
Consultation Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing 
Board the implementation date will be upon the expiry of the call-in period of the minutes 
of the Cabinet meeting.   
 
In respect of the Programme of Meetings for the Council, Member Briefing Sessions; 
Regulatory Committees; and Overview and Scrutiny Committees immediately following 
the Council meeting. 
 
Contact Officer:  Paul Fraser 
Tel: 0151 934 2068 
Email: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers: 
 
There are no background papers available for inspection. 
 
1. Introduction/Background 
 
1.1 The Council is required to establish a Programme of Meetings for the 2019/20 

Municipal Year. 
 
1.2 The following annexes are attached to the report: 
 

 Annex A -  Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet in 2019/20 
 

 Annex B -  Programme of Meetings for the Council, Members’ 
Briefing Sessions and Regulatory Committees in 
2019/20 

 

 Annex C - Programme of Meetings for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees in 2019/20 

 

 Annex D - Programme of Meetings for the Public Engagement and 
Consultation Panel, Sefton Safer Communities 
Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing Board in 
2019/20. 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



 

 

1.3 Similar to the arrangements put in place last year once the programme of 
meetings are approved, an “in-house” diary will be produced for Members of the 
Council. 

 
2. Programme of Meetings 2019/20 
 
2.1 The key principles of the Programme of Meetings are as follows: 
 

 Five Ordinary Council Meetings to be held every 8 weeks on a Thursday 
commencing at 6.30 p.m. plus the Budget Council Meeting to be held on 27 
February 2020.  

 Council will not meet on the same day as Cabinet.   

 Members’ Briefing Sessions to be held at 5.00 p.m. prior to the five Ordinary 
Council Meetings. 

 No meetings will be held: 

 In the period between Christmas and New Year (December 2019/January 
2020) 

 In April 2020 except for the meetings of the Planning Committee, Cabinet 
and Council. 

 As far as possible no meetings will be held during the school half term holiday 
weeks. 

 The venues for all meetings alternate between Bootle and Southport Town Halls. 

 Cabinet Meetings to be held on a Thursday at 10.00 a.m. The first meeting to be 
held on 23 May 2019. 

 Planning Committee to meet every four weeks on a Wednesday, commencing at 
6.30 p.m. 

 Planning Visiting Panel to meet 2 days prior to each meeting of the Planning 
Committee to undertake site visits as agreed by the Committee. 

 Each of the 4 Overview and Scrutiny Committees to meet bi monthly, 5 times 
during the year commencing at 6.30 p.m. – the main Overview and Scrutiny work 
will be done by Working Groups established on an ad hoc basis. 

 Special meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regulatory, 
Compliance and Corporate Services) to be held on 11 February 2020 to scrutinise 
the Cabinet budget process. 

 Overview and Scrutiny Management Board to meet 5 times per year, commencing 
at 4.30 p.m. 

 Licensing and Regulatory Committee to meet quarterly on a Monday commencing 
at 6.30 p.m. 

 Meetings of the Licensing Sub-Committee to be convened as and when required. 

 Audit and Governance Committee to meet every quarter (4 meetings per year) on 
a Wednesday commencing at 3.00 p.m. in order to meet statutory requirements 
etc. 

 Pay and Grading Committee to be convened as and when required. 

 Health and Wellbeing Board to meet 4 times per year. 

 The dates for the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel, which are not 
public meetings are included in the Corporate Calendar. 

 
3. Calendar of Meetings 
 

Page 100

Agenda Item 10



 

 

3.1  A copy of the Calendar of Meetings for 2019/20 and associated annexes are 
attached.  
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

ANNEX A 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON 

PROGRAMME OF CABINET MEETINGS - 2019/2020 

 
    2019 2020 
Meeting 
 

Day Time Venue May 
 

June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May 
 

CABINET 
 

Thur. 10.00 a.m. B 23  25   3  5  6 5  28 

 
 

  S  20   5  7  9 13  2  

 
 
 
Key to Venues: 
 
B - Bootle Town Hall 
 
S - Southport Town Hall  

P
age 103

A
genda Item

 10



 

 

ANNEX B 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON 

PROGRAMME OF COUNCIL, MEMBERS’ BRIEFING SESSIONS AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETINGS ETC. - 2019/2020 

 

    2019 2020 
Meeting 
 

Day Time Venue May 
 

June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May 
 

June 

COUNCIL 
 

Thur. 6.30 p.m. B 16     19    23 27   19 
Tue 

 

 
 

  S 14    18    21     23 21º  

 

 

MEMBERS’ BRIEFING 
SESSIONS 
Prior to each Ordinary Council 
Meeting 

Thur. 5.00 p.m. B     19    23      

   S 
 

  18    14     23   

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE 

Wed. 3.00 p.m. B  26 24     18      
 

 

 
 

  S     18      18   
 

 

APPEALS (FOR PERSONNEL 
CASES) - as and when required 

Thur. -               
 

 

 
 

 -               
 

 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY 
COMMITTEE 

Mon. 6.30 p.m. B  17       6     
 

 

 
 

  S     9      16    

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE - 
as and when required  

  B              
 

 

 
 

  S               

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Wed. 6.30 p.m. B ↨29  3 28  16  11  5 25   
 

 

 
 

  S  5 `31  25  13  15  4 22   

PLANNING VISITING PANEL Mon 
 

10.00 a.m. B  3 1/29 27 
Tues 

23 14 11 9 13 3 2  
23  

20 
 

  

PAY AND GRADING 
COMMITTEE – as and when 
required 

                 

  Annual Meeting 2019/20 - commences at 6.00 p.m.  (Tuesday) 

 Adjourned Annual Meeting - Appointment of Committees etc. for 2019/20  

 Budget Meeting  

º  Annual Meeting 2020/2021 - commences at 6.00 p.m. (Tuesday) (Venue to be 

determined) 

  Adjourned Annual Meeting - Appointment of Committees etc. for 2020/2021  

   

↨Mandatory Planning Committee  
 

P
age 104

A
genda Item

 10



 

 

ANNEX C 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON 

PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS  FOR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES - 2019/2020 
(Tuesday) 

 

 
 

 2019 2020 

Meeting 
 

Venue May 
 

June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE (Adult Social Care) 

B 
 

 25    15    25    

(6.30 p.m.) (Tue) 
 

S     3    7     
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEEE 

B     10    14 *11    

(Regulatory, Compliance and 
Corporate Services) (Tue) 
(6.30 p.m.) 

S  18    22     3   

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE (Regeneration and 

B   2    5    10   

Skills) 
(6.30 p.m.) (Tue) 

S     17    21     

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE (Children’s Services 
and Safeguarding) 

B   9    12    17   

(6.30 p.m.) (Tue) 
* (Wed) 

S     24    28     

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
MANAGEMENT BOARD (4.30 p.m.) 

B  25   24  5  14  10   

(Tue) S 
 

             

 
* Special meeting to consider Budget proposals.  
 
 
 

  

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 10



 

 

ANNEX D 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON 

PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS FOR PARTNERSHIP MEETINGS- 2019/2020 

 
    2019 2020 
Meeting 
 

Day Time Venue May 
 

June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May 
 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL ^ 

Fri 10.00 a.m. B 17  12  13  15  17  13   

   S 
 

             

SEFTON SAFER COMMUNITIES 
PARTNERSHIP 

Thu 
 

10.00 a.m. B  13   12   12   12   

   S 
 

             

HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD 

Wed. 2.00 p.m. B  
 
 

 
12 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
11 
 

 
 

 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

  
11 
 

  

 
 

  S              

 
^ Meetings video conferenced to Southport Town Hall  

P
age 106

A
genda Item

 10



 
SEFTON COUNCIL 

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2019/20 
 

  MAY 2019 

WED 1  
 
 

  

THU 2 COUNCIL ELECTIONS  
 

FRI 3  
 

 
 
 

 

SAT 4    

SUN 5    

MON 6 MAY BANK HOLIDAY 
 

 
 
 

 

TUE 7  
 

 
 
 

 

WED 8  
 

 
 
 

 

THU 9  
 

 
 
 

 

FRI 10  
 

 
 
 

 

SAT 11    

SUN 12    

MON 13  
 
 

  

TUE 14  
 
 

 6.00 ANNUAL COUNCIL (VENUE TO BE 

DETERMINED) 

WED 15  
 
 

  

THU 16  
 
 

 6.30 ADJOURNED ANNUAL COUNCIL 

(B) 

FRI 17 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B)  
 

SAT 18    

SUN 19    

MON 20  
 
 

  

TUE 21  
 
 

  
 

WED 22                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                      
 

THU 23 10.00 CABINET (B)  
 
 

 

FRI 24   
 
 

 

SAT 25    

SUN 26    

MON 
 

27 SPRING BANK HOLIDAY SCHOOL HALF-TERM HOLIDAY 
WEEK 

 

TUE  28  
 

  

WED 29 
 

 
 

 6.30 MANDATORY PLANNING 
COMMITTEE TRAINING SESSION (B)  

THU 30  
 

  

FRI 31  
 

  

  MAY 2019 

Page 107

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  JUNE 2019 

SAT 1   
 

 

SUN 2    

MON 3 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

 
 
 

 

TUE 4   
 
 

 

WED 5   
 
 

6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S) 

THU 6  
 
 

  

FRI 7  
 
 

  

SAT 8    

SUN 9    

MON 10  
 
 

  

TUE 11   
 

 

WED 12  
 

2.00 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

(B) 
 

 

THU 13 10.00 SEFTON SAFER 

COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP (B) 
 

 
 
 

 

FRI 14  
 

 
 
 

 

SAT 15    

SUN 16    

MON 17  
 

 
 
 

6.30 LICENSING AND 

REGULATORY (B) 

TUE 18  
 

 
 
 

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES) (S) 

WED 19  
 
 

  

THU 20 10.00 CABINET (S)  
 
 

 

FRI 21   
 
 

 

SAT 22 
 

   

SUN 23    

MON 24  
 

 
 
 

 

TUE 25  
 
 

4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

MANAGEMENT BOARD (B) 
6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (B) 

WED 
 

26  
 
 

3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (B)  

THU 
 

27    

FRI 28  
 
 

  

SAT 29    

SUN 30    

  JUNE 2019 

Page 108

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  JULY 2019 

MON 1 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 2  
 
 

 
 

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (B) 

WED 3   
 
 

5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 

(B) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B) 

THU 4   
 
 

 

FRI 5    

SAT 6    

SUN 7    

MON 8  
 
 

  

TUE 9   
 
 

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 

SAFEGUARDING) (B) 

WED 10   
 
 

 

THU 11   
 
 

 

FRI 12 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B) 
 

  

SAT 13    

SUN 14    

MON 15  
 
 

  

TUE 16  
 
 

  

WED 17   
 
 

 

THU 18  
 

 
 

5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING (S) 
6.30 COUNCIL (S) 

FRI 19  
 
 

   

SAT 20  
 
 

  

SUN 21    

MON 22 
 

 
 
 

  

TUE 23  
 
 

  

WED 24  
 
 

3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (B) 
(SPECIAL MEETING FOR APPROVAL OF 

2018/19 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS) 

 

THU 25 10.00 CABINET (B) 
 
 

  

FRI 26  
 
 

  

SAT 27    

SUN 28    

MON 29 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 
 

  

TUE 30    

WED 31   5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 

(S) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S) 

  JULY 2019 

 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 10



 
 
 

  AUGUST 2019 

THU 1  
 
 

 
 

 

FRI 2   
 
 

 

SAT 3    

SUN 4    

MON 
 
 

5    

TUE 6   
 
 

 

WED 7   
 
 

 

THU 8   
 
 

 

FRI 9  
 
 

  

SAT 10    

SUN 11    

MON 12  
 
 

  

TUE 13  
 
 

  

WED 14   
 
 

 

THU 15  
 
 

 
 

 

FRI 16   
 
 

 

SAT 17    

SUN 18    

MON 19  
 
 

  

TUE 
 

20  
 
 

  

WED 21  
 
 

  

THU 22 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

FRI 23  
 
 

  

SAT 24    

SUN 25    

MON 26 SUMMER BANK HOLIDAY 
 
 

TUE 
 

27 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL (B)               

WED 28                                                                                                                                                              5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION (B) 
                                                                                                                                                             6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B) 

THU 29  

FRI 30  

SAT 31  

  AUGUST 2019 

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  SEPTEMBER 2019 

SUN 1    

MON 2  
 
 

  

TUE 3  
 
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (S)                                             
    
    

WED 4  
 

 
 

 

THU 5 10.00 CABINET (S) 
 
 

  

FRI 6  
 
 

  

SAT 7    

SUN 8    

MON 9  
 
 

 6.30 LICENSING AND REGULATORY 

(S) 

TUE 10  
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES) (B) 

WED 11  
 

2.00 HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

BOARD (B) 
 

THU 12 10.00 SEFTON SAFER 
COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP (B) 

  
 
 

FRI 13 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B)  
 

 
 
 

  

SAT 14    

SUN 15    

MON 16  
 
 

  

TUE 17  
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (S) 

WED 18  
 
 

3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (S)  

THU 19  
 
 

 5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING (B) 
6.30 COUNCIL (B) 

FRI 20    

SAT 21   
 

 

SUN 22 
 

   

MON 
 

23 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 24  
 
 

4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

MANAGEMENT BOARD (B) 
6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 

SAFEGUARDING) (S) 

WED 25  
 

 
 

5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 

(S) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S) 

THU  
 
 

26    

FRI 
 

27  
 
 

  

SAT 28    

SUN 29    

MON 
 

30    

  SEPTEMBER 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  OCTOBER 2019 

TUE 1  
 
 

 
 

 

WED 2   
 
 

 

THU 3 10.00 CABINET (B) 
 

 
 
 

 

FRI 4  
 

  

SAT 5    

SUN 6    

MON 7  
 
 

  

TUE 8  
 
 

  

WED 9  
 
 

  

THU 10  
 
 

  

FRI 11  
 
 

  

SAT 12    

SUN 13    

MON 14 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 15  
 

 
 
 

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (B) 

WED 16  
 

 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 

(B) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B) 

THU 17  
 
 

  

FRI 18  
 
 

  

SAT 19    

SUN 20    

MON 21    

TUE 22 
 

  
 
 

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE  AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES) (S) 

WED 23  
 
 

  

THU 24  
 
 

  
 

FRI 25  
 
 

  

SAT 26    

SUN 27    

MON 28 SCHOOL HALF-TERM HOLIDAY 
WEEK 
 
 

  

TUE 29  
 
 

  

WED 30    

THU 31    

  OCTOBER 2019 

Page 112

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  NOVEMBER 2019 

FRI 1  
 
 

  

SAT 2    

SUN 3    

MON 4  
 

  

TUE 5  
 

4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

MANAGEMENT BOARD (B) 
 

6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (B) 

WED 6  
 
 

  

THU 7 10.00 CABINET (S) 
 
 

  

FRI 8    

SAT 9    

SUN 10 REMEMBRANCE SUNDAY   

MON 11 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 12  
 
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 

SDAFEGUARDING) (B) 

WED 13  
 

 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 

(S) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S) 

THU 14    

FRI 15 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B) 
 

  

SAT 16    

SUN 17    

MON 18  
 
 

  

TUE 19  
 
 

  

WED 20  
 
 

  

THU 21  
 
 

 5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING (S) 
6.30 COUNCIL (S) 
 

FRI 22 
 

  
 
 

 

SAT 23    

SUN 24    

MON 25  
 
 

  

TUE 
 

26    

WED 
 

27    

THU 
 

28  
 

 
 
 

 

FRI 29    

SAT 30    

  NOVEMBER 2019 

Page 113

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  DECEMBER 2019 

SUN 1    

MON 2  
 
 

  

TUE 3  
 
 

  

WED 4  
 
 

2.00 HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

BOARD (B) 
 

THU 5 10.00 CABINET (B) 
 
 

  

FRI 6  
 
 

  

SAT 7    

SUN 8    

MON 9 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 10  
 
 

  

WED 11  
 

 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 

(B) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B) 

THU 12 10.00 SEFTON SAFER 
COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP (B) 
 

  

FRI 13  
 
 

  

SAT 14    

SUN 15    

MON 16  
 

  

TUE 17  
 

  

WED 18  
 

3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (B)  

THU 19  
 

  

FRI 20    

SAT 21    

SUN 22 
 

   

MON 23 SCHOOL CHRISTMAS BREAK   

TUE 24 COUNCIL OFFICES CLOSED   

WED 25 CHRISTMAS DAY 
 

  

THU 26 BANK HOLIDAY 
 

  

FRI 
 

27 COUNCIL OFFICES CLOSED 
 
 

  

SAT 
 

28  
 

  

SUN 
 

29  
 

  

MON 30 COUNCIL OFFICES CLOSED   

TUE 31 COUNCIL OFFICES CLOSED   

  DECEMBER 2019 

 

Page 114

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  JANUARY 2020 

WED 1 NEW YEAR’S DAY 
 

  

THU 2  
 

   

FRI 3  
 
 

  

SAT 4    

SUN 5    

MON 6   6.30 LICENSING AND 

REGULATORY (B) 

TUE 7  
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (S) 

WED 8  
 

  

THU 9 10.00 CABINET (S) 
 
 

   

FRI 10  
 
 

  

SAT 11    

SUN 12    

MON 13 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 14  
 

4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

MANAGEMENT BOARD (B) 
6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES) (B) 

WED 15  
 
 

 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING 

SESSION (S) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S) 

THU 16  
  
 

  

FRI 17 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B)  
 

  

SAT 18    

SUN 19  
 
 

  

MON 20  
 
 

  

TUE 21  
 
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (S) 

WED 22 
 

 
 
 

  

THU 23   5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING (B) 
6.30 COUNCIL (B) 
 

FRI 24  
 
 

  

SAT 25    

SUN 26    

MON 
 

27    

TUE 
 

28   6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 

SAFEGUARDING) (S) 

WED 29    

THU 30    

FRI 31    

  JANUARY 2020 

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  FEBRUARY 2020 

SAT 1    

SUN 2    

MON 3 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 4  
 
 

  

WED 5  
 

 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 

(B) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B) 

THU 6 10.00 CABINET (B) 
 
 
 

  

FRI 7  
 
 

  

SAT 8    

SUN 9    

MON 10  
 

  

TUE 11   6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES)  BUDGET 
MEETING (B) 

WED 12  
 
 

 
 

 

THU 13 10.00 CABINET (BUDGET) (S) 
 
 

  

FRI 14  
 
 

  

SAT 15    

SUN 16    

MON 17 SCHOOL HALF-TERM HOLIDAY 
WEEK 
 
 

  

TUE 18  
 
 

  

WED 19  
 
 

  

THU 20  
 
 

  

FRI 21  
 
 

  

SAT 22 
 

   

SUN 23    

MON 24  
 
 

  

TUE 
 

25  
 
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(ADULT SOCIAL CARE) (B) 

WED 26  
 
 

  

THU 27   6.30 BUDGET COUNCIL (B) 

FRI 28    

SAT 29    

  FEBRUARY 2020 

 

Page 116

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  MARCH 2020 

SUN 1    

MON 2 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 3  
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGULATORY, COMPLIANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES) (S) 

WED 4  
 

 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING 

SESSION (S) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S) 

THU 5 10.00 CABINET (B) 
 

  

FRI 6  
 
 

   

SAT 7    

SUN 8    

MON 9  
 
 

  

TUE 10  
 

4.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

MANAGEMENT BOARD (B) 
6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(REGENERATION AND SKILLS) (B) 

WED 11  
 

2.00 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

(B) 
 

THU 12 10.00 SEFTON SAFER 
COMMUNITIES PARTNERSHIP (B)  
 

  

FRI 13 10.00 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND 
CONSULTATION PANEL (B)  
 

  

SAT 14    

SUN 15    

MON 16  
 
 

 6.30 LICENSING AND 

REGULATORY (S) 

TUE 17  
 
 

 6.30 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND 

SAFEGUARDING) (B) 

WED 18  
 

3.00 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE (S)  

THU 19  
 
 

  

FRI 20  
 

  

SAT 21    

SUN 22 
 

   

MON 23 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 24  
 

  

WED 25  
 

 5.00 PLANNING TRAINING 

SESSION (B) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (B) 

THU 26  
 
 

  

FRI 
 

27    

SAT 28    

SUN 29    

MON 30    

TUE 31    

  MARCH 2020 

Page 117

Agenda Item 10



 
 

  APRIL 2020 

WED 1   
 
 

 

THU 2 10.00 CABINET (S) 
 
 

 
 

 

FRI 3  
 
 

 
 

 

SAT 4    

SUN 5    

MON 6 SCHOOL SPRING HOLIDAY 
 
 

  

TUE 7  
 
 

  

WED 8  
 
 

 
 

 

THU 9  
 
 

 
 

 

FRI 10 GOOD FRIDAY 
 

 
 

 

SAT 11    

SUN 12 EASTER SUNDAY   

MON 13 EASTER MONDAY 
 
 

  

TUE 14  
 
 

  

WED 15  
 
 

  

THU 16   
 
 

 

FRI 17   
 
 

 

SAT 18    

SUN 19    

MON 20 10.00 PLANNING VISITING PANEL 
(B) 
 

  

TUE 21  
 
 

  

WED 22 
 

  
 
 

5.00 PLANNING TRAINING SESSION 

(S) 
6.30 PLANNING COMMITTEE (S) 

THU 23  
 

 
 
 

5.00 MEMBERS’ BRIEFING (S) 
6.30 COUNCIL (S) 

FRI 24   
 
 

 

SAT 25    

SUN 26    

MON 27  
 
 

  

TUE 28  
 
 

  

WED 29    

THU 30    

  APRIL 2020 

Page 118

Agenda Item 10



 
  

  MAY 2020 

FRI 1  
 
 

 
 

 

SAT 2    

SUN 3    

MON 4 MAY BANK HOLIDAY 
 
 

  

TUE 5  
 
 

  

WED 6  
 
 

 
 

 

THU 7 COUNCIL ELECTIONS 
 
 

   

FRI 8  
 
 

 
 

 

SAT 9    

SUN 10    

MON 11  
 
 

  

TUE 12  
 
 

  

WED 13  
 
 

 
 

 

THU 14  
 
 

 
 

 

FRI 15  
 
 

 
 

 

SAT 16  

SUN 17    

MON 18  
 
 

  

TUE 19  
 
 

 6.00 ANNUAL COUNCIL  
(VENUE TO BE DETERMINED) 

WED 20  
 
 

THU 21   
 
 

6.30 ADJOURNED ANNUAL COUNCIL 

(B) 

FRI 22 
 

 
 
 

  

SAT 23    

SUN 24    

MON 25 SPRING BANK HOLIDAY       
SCHOOL  HALF-TERM  HOLIDAY 
WEEK 
 

  

TUE 26  
 
 

  

WED 27  
 

  

THU 
 

28 10.00 CABINET (B) 
 

  

FRI 29    

SAT 30    

SUN 31    

  MAY 2020 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL MOTION 

24 JANUARY 2019 

 

PROPOSED BY: Councillor Dawson 

SECONDED BY: Councillor TBC 

 

IMPACT OF UNIVERSAL CREDIT 

This Council notes that while the principle of having some form of 'Universal Credit' 
system in bringing all benefits and 'tax credits' together within one process has been 
supported by all major political parties, both in government and outside of 
government, the introduction and implementation of this benefit system to date has 
been severely flawed in a way which has impacted greatly upon some of the poorest 
and most vulnerable individuals. 
 
This Council welcomes the recent decision in the High Court demonstrating that the 
DWP have not been following their own rules in bringing in this Benefit and calls 
upon the government to take urgent steps to solve these highlighted problems, and 
other problems which have been identified during the implementation and piloting 
process, and to apply the benefit universally to all claimants and their children fairly 
and equally in a way which does not impoverish people. 
 
Council welcomes the recent public statement by Amber Rudd, Secretary of State for 
Work and Pensions, indicating that she wishes to make the operation of Universal 
Credit fairer and calls on the government to work across party, particularly with the 
members of the House of Commons Select Committee on Work & Pensions, to bring 
about necessary changes in Universal Credit as soon as is conceivably possible. 

Page 121

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL MOTION 

24 JANUARY 2019 

 

PROPOSED BY: Councillor Terry Jones 

SECONDED BY: Councillor Harry Bliss 

 

CREATING A TOWN COUNCIL FOR SOUTHPORT 

 

We believe that the communities of Sefton as a whole will be better supported if 

there is a Town Council in Southport which can reflect the unique characteristics of 

the Town. The borough of Sefton is not uniform. Southport has a distinct character 

and with this comes a number of challenges, some of which we believe will be better 

addressed by a Southport Town Council. The aim will be to work cooperatively with 

Sefton MBC and other organisations for the betterment of Southport. 

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 enables Sefton 

Council to undertake community governance reviews, to consult local people on 

creating or changing local democratic arrangements within the Borough such as 

Parish and Town Councils and to change the arrangements where it will improve 

things. 

Accordingly, this Council resolves to 

1. Undertake a Community Governance Review to explore the creation of a Town 

Council for Southport, covering the current Parliamentary constituency boundary. 

2. Request Council Officers to provide a report to the next Council meeting on the 

Community Governance Review terms of reference, approach and process for 

consideration and approval.  

3. Refer the issue to Cabinet in accordance with Rule 86 of the Council’s 

Constitution for formal consideration of any financial implications. 

Page 123

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20, Increase to Long Term Empty Homes Premium and Council Tax Base 2019/20
	8 Pay Policy
	9 Making the Lydiate and Maghull Neighbourhood Plans
	10 Programme of Meetings – 2019/20 Municipal Year
	Enc. 1 Annexes A- D
	Enc. 2 calendar

	12 Motion Submitted by Councillor Dawson - Impact of Universal Credit
	13 Motion Submitted by Councillor Jones - Creating a Town Council for Southport

